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CHAIRMAN 
MESSAGE

On behalf of the Board and 
management team I am pleased 
to present to shareholders our 
detai led f inancial year 2017 
repor ts. The 2017 f inancial 
result has met and exceeded 
our internal expectations and we 
have closed the year 12% above 
our forecast revenue and 5% 
above gross prof i t forecast. These 
results are especial ly per tinent 
when consider ing the general 

downturn in the real estate market of 3%1 for residential l istings. While 
traditional agencies repor ted negative growth, buyMyplace has continued 
to make signif icant gains each quar ter.

An enormous par t of th is success has been 

a shi f t in the way Austra l ians perceive an 

expansion in di f ferent methods to sel l proper ty 

and with that, has come a growth in awareness 

of buyMyplace and our proposi t ion. We are now 

mentioned regular ly in media stor ies about the 

industr y general ly as a real estate disruptor, 

which is benef ic ia l to brand awareness as 

wel l as considerat ion of our proposi t ion and 

fur ther establ ishes us as a growing player in the 

Austra l ian Real Estate landscape.

1 Source: CoreLogic

For the year ended 30 June 2017, the Group’s 

revenue increased 94% to $2,102,105 (2016: 

$1,084,599 ). Compar ing the f i rst fu l l year as an 

ASX l isted company (FY17), compared to the last 

fu l l f inancia l year pr ior to l ist ing (FY15), revenue 

growth is more than double at 139%.

We are pleased to repor t this growth has not 

occurred as a resul t of s igni f icantly discounting 

pr ices, with 82% growth in gross prof i t in FY17 

over FY16 and a s igni f icant 166% growth in FY17 

compared to the last fu l l f inancia l year pr ior to 

l ist ing (FY15).
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Dur ing the year, the fol lowing changes occurred 

within the Group:

•	  The Company successful ly ra ised $3m under a 

ful ly underwr i t ten r ights issue.

•	 The buyMyplace Ful l Serv ice package was 

launched, a l lowing vendors to have access 

to l icensed estate agents in the sale process 

whi lst st i l l  reta ining the “no commission” value 

proposi t ion.

•	  The Company reached the s igni f icant mi lestone 

of 4,000 proper t ies sold.

•	 Subsequent to the end of the f inancia l year the 

Company completed the acquis i t ion of MyPlace 

Conveyancing Pty Ltd, enabl ing the Company 

to of fer customers a complete conveyancing 

solut ion at a more competi t ive pr ice than 

other providers.

Since our last successful capi ta l ra is ing in 

December 2016, our CEO Paul Heath and the 

team at buyMyplace have focussed heavi ly on 

growing the business through a combination of 

both our acquist ion and an expanded product 

of fer ing.  Most recently, in June, the Company 

acquired MyPlace Conveyancing, an onl ine 

conveyancing company, which has a clear and 

natural synergy with the buyMyplace business 

model and phi losophy. 

The team also launched our Ful l Serv ice package 

as a response to feedback f rom vendors who 

wanted to capita l ise on commission-f ree sel l ing, 

but require more assistance. Currently only 

avai lable in Melbourne metropol i tan areas, the 

company plans to rol l out this serv ice in other 

capi ta l c i t ies over the coming months. 

Together with many other improvements over the 

last year, we have enhanced customer choice 

and engagement. To manage our growth strategy, 

buyMyplace has engaged senior managers and 

grown the sales and customer serv ice teams to 

respond to increasing customer demand. I t is a 

credi t to the enti re team that they have achieved 

growth beyond our forecasts and I would l ike to 

thank them for their hard work and unwaver ing 

commitment dur ing this t ime and I look forward to 

an exci t ing and successful next 12 months.

Matthew Driscoll 
Chairman 
buyMyplace.com.au Limited
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The last 12 months has been an enormous year 

for buyMyplace in terms of expansion - we have 

grown our product through par tnerships and 

acquis i t ions, as wel l as adding to the var iety 

of sales packages we of fer our vendors. In 

December 2016, we completed a successful 

capi ta l ra is ing of more than $3 mi l l ion, which 

has al lowed us to proactive ly accelerate our 

expansion plans.

Some of the key highl ights of the past year 

have been:

•	 Revenues have almost doubled, being up 

94% to $2.1 mi l l ion with losses down 18% to 

$3.8 mi l l ion.  Revenue increased faster than 

L ist ings volume of 53%, showing success in 

the company’s strategy to increase revenue per 

customer through compel l ing products 

and serv ices.

•	 Successful $3 mi l l ion capita l ra is ing completed 

in December 2016, the funds f rom which have 

enabled buyMyplace to accelerate i ts growth.

•	 The continued expansion of our product sui te 

with new proper ty l ist ing packages providing 

compel l ing bundles of products and serv ices at 

$695, $995, $1295 and $1795 

•	 Launch of Ful l Serv ice package in Melbourne, 

enabl ing vendors to use a real estate agent 

to manage every e lement of their sale for a 

f ixed fee of $4595, with just $2995 payable 

upfront and the remainder only payable on the 

successful complet ion of a sale. Ful l Serv ice wi l l 

launch in other capi ta l c i t ies in coming months.

•	 Achievement of over 4,000 proper t ies and over 

$2.1 bi l l ion in proper ty value sold by May 2017

I  am delighted to share the 
Company’s Second Annual 
Repor t, since l isting on the 
Austral ian Stock Exchange on 
15 March, 2016. In the 12 months 
to June 2017 buyMyplace has 
consolidated its position as a 
leading Austral ian commission 
free online pr ivate sales real 
estate company, even as new 
competitors entered the market.

CEO MESSAGE
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•	 Expansion of our onl ine marketing activ i ty 

across SEM, SEO and Socia l Media, generat ing 

a 76% increase in tota l unique v is i tors (dai ly) to 

641,000 and over 3.3mi l l ion page v iews. 

We also launched a new TV campaign, 

broadcast national ly throughout Austra l ia on 

f ree to a i r networks.

•	 Our combined onl ine and of f l ine marketing 

campaigns have contr ibuted s igni f icantly to 

expanding the awareness of the buyMyplace 

brand plus the Commission Free real estate 

category, enabl ing Austra l ians to sel l their 

proper ty themselves and save thousands in 

commissions and fees.

•	 We have also achieved more than 500 media 

stor ies through PR activ i ty in the last year, 

reaching more than 95,550,041 people.

•	 Continued expansion of our team across 

sales and customer serv ice to respond to the 

s igni f icant growth in leads and l ist ings volume.

•	 Key senior management appointment of Danie l 

Ferguson as Chief Marketing Of f icer. Dan’s 

exper ience includes CMO roles at leading onl ine 

marketplace in New Zealand, TradeMe, as wel l 

as other Austra l ian and international companies.

•	 Acquis i t ion of MyPlace Conveyancing, which 

we have been recommending to our sel lers 

and buyers s ince 2015. MyPlace Conveyancing 

is an onl ine conveyancing business providing 

proper ty sel lers and buyers a l l the legal 

documentation required to complete the sale 

or purchase of their proper ty. A l though this 

acquis i t ion was completed in July, the major i ty 

of the work in secur ing this acquis i t ion was 

under taken in the per iod to June 2017.

•	 Secur ing a f inal ist place in REB Onl ine’s 

Innovator of the Year award - which is hotly 

contested by leading real estate businesses 

across Austra l ia. This is the f i rst t ime that 

an Onl ine Tech disruptor has achieved this 

accolade in what is usual ly considered 

tradi t ional Real Estate terr i tor y.

As a consequence of the proactive expansion 

activ i t ies f rom al l areas of the business, the 

company has achieved signi f icant growth.  In 

contrast, the tota l market for residentia l l ist ings 

fe l l 3%1 in the 12 months to June 2017 with some 

tradi t ional real estate agents repor t ing decl ines in 

l ist ing volumes. This bodes wel l for the company’s 

future, showing clear ly the commission f ree model 

is equal ly compel l ing for Austra l ians sel l ing their 

proper ty dur ing per iods of market growth 

and contraction.

By the four th quar ter, buyMyplace had increased 

i ts market share to 0.53% of tota l new l ist ings 

of residentia l proper ty1, approaching the market 

share of some wel l-establ ished tradi t ional real 

estate companies in Austra l ia.

Looking over our achievements for the past year, 

I am del ighted with the direction the company is 

moving and thank the whole team at buyMyplace 

for their outstanding commitment and abi l i t y to 

del iver on our strategy.

Paul Heath 
Chief Executive Of f icer 
buyMyplace.com.au Limited

1 Source: CoreLogic
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PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE

We believe our results ref lect our commitment to our robust 
growth strategy.

We continue to focus our marketing in the most responsive media, 
resulting in cost-ef f icient demand generation.
 

In the f i rst fu l l year s ince l ist ing, buyMyplace has consistently grown in a l l i ts key metr ics, with 

substantia l double digi t growth in l ist ings, revenue, gross prof i t, revenue per l ist ing and Unique Vis i tors 

(UVs)1 on pr ior corresponding per iod (PCP).  

The team has worked hard to ensure we mainta ined a mult i-faceted approach to enhancing our 

business per formance and have focused on al l areas of the business f rom a robust onl ine strategy, 

enhanced product of fer ings plus par tnerships and acquis i t ions to ensure we have the best team in 

place to del iver consistently.  

 

We have taken care to ensure our onl ine strategy is a lways best in c lass, investing in our marketing 

team, web si te, onl ine channels and other var iables to achieve the best outcomes. Our Unique Vis i tors 

increased 76% on FY16 and more than double FY15, which is testament to our strategy.

The enhancements to our product of fer ing were at tractive to our customers with a 53% surge in l ist ings 

on PCP in what was widely acknowledged to be a sof t market environment with tota l new residentia l 

proper ty l ist ings in Austra l ia decl in ing 3%2.

We also achieved a s igni f icant growth in revenue- expanding faster than l ist ings- up 94% on the last 

f inancia l year and increasing 139% on FY15. In the last year we have responded to our customers’ 

evolv ing needs for addit ional serv ice and value by continuing to develop our packages to provide a 

broader var iety according to the level of suppor t they need. 

Our revenue per l ist ing was up by 26% to on FY16 and representing a 53% growth on FY15, the last fu l l 

f inancia l year as a pr ivate enti ty pr ior to ASX l ist ing. This increase has been generated f rom providing 

vendors a broader var iety of packages on the buyMyplace plat form f rom which to choose, providing 

greater value v ia inclusion of addit ional serv ices such as professional photography, copywr i t ing, an 

expanded choice of s ignboards plus enhanced l ist ings on realestate.com.au and domain.com.au.

Whi lst we have invested in the core components required to achieve our strategy, we have also 

managed to achieve an impressive gross prof i t increase of 82 per cent on FY16 to $1,407,481 and 

166% on FY15. Due to the company’s cash posi t ion and cost base, i t is crucia l for the business to 

expand Gross Prof i t in lock step with Revenue pr ior to reaching break even.

The growth in our products, par tnerships and acquis i t ions provides buyMyplace a comprehensive and 

compel l ing product and serv ice of fer ing r iva l l ing both tradi t ional and other onl ine real estate companies 

local ly and international ly. Our vendors can choose f rom a Basic package with minimal features to a 

Ful l Serv ice package, providing a comprehensive serv ice identical a tradi t ional agent.

Our par tnerships and acquis i t ions give vendors access to a wide range of serv ices f rom conveyancing 

proper ty, pest and pool inspections, strata repor ts through to personal f inance and mor tgage lending.

We bel ieve our resul ts ref lect our commitment to our robust growth strategy. 

1 Measured daily
2 Source: CoreLogic
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PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE

Unique Visitors up 76%

FY17: 641,393

FY16: 363,510 

FY15: 296,193

UNIQUE VISITORS

641,000 
Up 76% on PCP

Our onl ine and of f l ine marketing campaigns rol led out national ly f rom May 2016 and generated a 

s igni f icant increase in Unique Vis i tors in FY17 over pr ior year. We continue to focus our marketing in 

the most responsive media, resul t ing in a cost-ef f ic ient demand generation model across Austra l ia.

REVENUE

$2,102,000 
Up 94% on PCP

The combination of l ist ings growth, most par t icular ly of the higher value packages, resul ted in revenue 

almost doubl ing at 94% growth on FY16.  Revenue grew signi f icantly faster than UVs and Proper ty 

L ist ing volume, underpinning a s igni f icant improvement in ef f ic iency of the business.

Revenue up 94%

FY17: 2,102,106

FY16: 1,084,599

FY15: 880,245
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PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE

GROSS PROFIT

Up 82% on PCP

Gross Prof i t increased in close accordance with Revenue, ref lect ing the focus on higher value 

packages and higher revenue per l ist ing.  Due to the company’s cash posi t ion and cost base, i t is 

crucia l for the business to expand Gross Prof i t in lock step with Revenue pr ior to reaching break even.

Gross Prof it up 82%

FY17: 1,407,481 

FY16: 773,693

FY15: 527,493

PROPERTY LISTINGS 

Up 53% on PCP

While proper ty l ist ings grew 53%, a s igni f icant change in composit ion of l ist ings was achieved with 

packages pr iced at RRP of $600 or more increasing 66% on FY16 and accounting for 82% of Total 

L ist ings in FY17. The impact of this growth created continued quar ter ly growth in Revenue per L ist ing 

throughout FY17, compared to quar ter ly PCP.

Although Total Proper ty L ist ings appear f lat FY16 on FY15, the FY16 per iod only included 3 months 

post ASX List ing. In addit ion, there was a substantia l change in composit ion of proper ty l ist ings, as the 

Company shi f ted i ts focus f rom lowest pr iced l ist ings to sel l ing at or above $600. This change in focus 

to higher v laue l ist ing packages underpinned the 23% increase in revenue and 47% growth in Gross 

Prof i t in FY16 on PCP

Proper ty Listings up 53%
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PERFORMANCE AT A GLANCE

REVENUE PER LISTING

Up 26% on PCP

The continued expansion of higher value l ist ing packages combined with a growth in share of an 

increased tota l l ist ings volume, underpinned a 26% growth in Revenue per L ist ing and fol lowed a 21% 

increase in Revenue per L ist ing the pr ior year on PCP

FY17: Revenue per Listing 
up 26%

FY16: Revenue per Listing 
up 21%
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OUR PEOPLE

We continue to develop a dynamic, v ibrant and commit ted team that is focused on assist ing Austra l ian 

proper ty vendors achieve outstanding outcomes by sel l ing their proper ty through the buyMyplace 

Commission Free business model and saving thousands by doing so. Our team is young, f resh, 

innovative and enthusiast ic in tak ing up the chal lenge of growing an ear ly stage company into a 

s igni f icant real estate business in Austra l ia.  Within in a shor t per iod fol lowing our ASX l ist ing, 

buyMyplace has al ready become the leading Commission Free pr ivate sale company in this market and 

our s ights are set on continuing to expand on this posi t ion.
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ABOUT US

Our team has shown signi f icant abi l i t y to leverage their sk i l ls across a range of customer segments, 

products and serv ices, which is proving highly valuable fo l lowing the acquis i t ion of 

MyPlace Conveyancing.

Commensurate with the growth we have exper ienced in l ist ing volumes, revenue and gross prof i t, 

we have increased our sales and customer serv ice team by 50% to meet demand, as wel l as making 

s igni f icant senior appointments to steer our strategic imperatives.

We continue to bui ld a cul ture of high per formance, accountabi l i t y and empowerment within the 

business, which has seen our people soar to meet the s igni f icant increase in demand and l ist ings 

volume for our Commission Free sales model.  

As a leading onl ine real estate company in Austra l ia, i t is crucia l our staf f have outstanding customer 

serv ice sk i l ls and the abi l i t y to l ia ise with vendors with vary ing requirements. Our team regular ly 

rev iews our processes to identi f y improvements to ensure we are helping our customers achieve the 

best possible outcomes. 

WEBSITE

Being an onl ine business, i t is v i ta l to ensure we remain ahead of the game in our websi te and onl ine 

presence, user exper ience and si te functional i t y.

We have recently appointed Dan Ferguson to the role of Chief Marketing Of f icer, due to his ex tensive 

exper ience and documented success across a range of onl ine businesses in Austra l ia and including 

major onl ine marketplace, TradeMe in New Zealand.

In FY17 we completed s igni f icant development of a number of features and functional i t y, which were 

pr imar i ly a imed at enhancing the user exper ience and si te per formance, rather than v isual design of the 

s i te and user inter face.

These included implementing the Str ipe payment gateway, which has improved re l iabi l i t y, enhanced 

repor t ing and provided real t ime noti f icat ion of payments.

An enhanced emai l forwarding system has been developed as wel l as a buyer enquir y phone system, 

br inging this functional i t y in house and improving the speed at which we advise buyer enquir ies to 

vendors plus providing immediate automated access of vendor contact detai ls to potentia l buyers.  

Both these enhancements have been accompanied by a s igni f icant increase in the number of proper t ies 

sold v ia buyMyplace.

Si te per formance was fur ther improved v ia a transi t ion to new thi rd par ty web hosting serv ices with 

greater capaci ty.  Si te secur i ty was enhanced with improved vendor log in functional i t y.

buyMyplace also implemented signi f icant improvements in internal systems, including transi t ion to 

Microsof t Dynamics as our CRM tool and Zen Desk as our te lephony system. At the t ime of wr i t ing the 

company is a lso transi t ioning f rom MYOB to Xero.
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We launched with TrustPi lot, an international rev iew si te where 

customers post rev iews on the company’s per formance.  We chose 

TrustPi lot due to the addit ional functional i t y where the company 

can determine whether the rev iew has been created by a bona 

f ide customer, or an anonymous user, who may have lef t a rev iew 

without any exper ience with our serv ice and whose intent may be 

mal ic ious.  We have been del ighted with the company’s per formance 

on TrustPi lot, secur ing a score of at least 4/5 for the year.

The company has continued i ts investment in onl ine channels, including SEM, SEO, Socia l media and, 

most recently, emai l.  This onl ine marketing activ i ty, combined with the company’s investment in above 

the l ine channels such as direct response TV (DRTV ), ensures we focus on the most ef fect ive and cost 

ef f ic ient marketing channels, creating a cost ef f ic ient demand generation model on a national scale in 

Austra l ia through FY17.  We continue to maximise every cost ef f ic ient oppor tuni ty avai lable to reach 

potentia l customers and gain fur ther market awareness.

 

This, in conjunction with tradi t ional and onl ine publ ic re lat ions which achieved more than 500 ar t ic les 

over the last year, has provided an omni-channel touchpoint for potentia l customers to discover and 

learn about our business. 

The combination of our var ious onl ine ef for ts has resul ted in huge gains in terms of unique v iews on 

our websi te, which have almost doubled in the last f inancia l year (up 76%) and resul t ing in an almost 

doubl ing of revenue and gross prof i t (see Per formance At A Glance)
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Being an online business, i t is vital to ensure we remain ahead of the 
game in our website and online presence, user experience and 
site functionali ty.

ABOUT US

 
PACKAGES

Over the last f inancia l year we have divers i f ied our proper ty l ist ing packages, enabl ing a greater choice 

for our vendors who can match their choice and cost of a package to their needs and budget, rather 

than the sale pr ice of their proper ty. This enables buyMyplace vendors to choose f rom our range of 

packages – opting f rom a low cost and true DIY exper ience, through to a Ful l Serv ice of fer ing where a 

ful ly l icensed real estate agent wi l l manage al l e lements of their sale (currently Melbourne Metro only). 

Whi le many of our vendors choose to sel l by pr ivate treaty, we also of fer our vendors auctioneers 

throughout Austra l ia at at tractive cost savings compared to tradi t ional agents. Vendors can therefore 

choose the option that is most appropr iate for their area and circumstances. 

At the t ime of wr i t ing, our Basic package star ts at $695, fo l lowed by our Basic Marketing package 

at $995 which includes professional copywr i t ing and four hours exper t suppor t. Our recommended 

package for most vendors is our mid-range Advanced Marketing package at $1,495, including 

professional photography, a larger for sale board and f loor plans. Our Ul t imate package comes with 

professional negotiat ion and a feature l ist ing on leading proper ty por ta ls such as realestate.com.au 

and domain.com.au.

The top of our range Ful l Serv ice package includes a ful ly l icensed real estate agent, star t ing at only 

$2,995, with a fur ther $2000 paid upon successful sale of the proper ty. Launched in February 2017, 

and currently avai lable in Melbourne Metropol i tan areas, Ful l Serv ice has al ready proved popular and 

we plan to expand into other geographical markets in the future.

Our goal is to be able to serv ice a var iety of customer types, with every level of serv ice avai lable to 

our vendors.
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SELECT A PACKAGE

BASIC
BASIC 

MARKETING
ADVANCED 
MARKETING

ULTIMATE 
PACKAGE

FULL
SERVICE

$695 $995 $1495 $1995 $2995

PURCHASE NOW PURCHASE NOW PURCHASE NOW PURCHASE NOW PURCHASE NOW

Photography Self Taken (12) Self Taken (12) Professional (12) Professional (12) Professional (12)

For Sale Board
Colourflute Board 

(2 x 3ft)
Stock Board  

(3 x 4ft)
Photographic 

(4 x 6ft)
Photographic 

(4 x 6ft)
Photographic  

|4 x 6ft)

Name & Number on Board � � � �

Listing on realestate.com.au 
(excl: N.T.) & domain.com.au until sold

� � � � �

Listing on domain.com.au � � � � �

Listing on buyMyplace.com.au � � � �

Listing on AllHomes.com* � � � � �

Plus 8 Additional Portals � � � � �

Online Printable Brochures � � � � 400 x DL Flyers

Customer Support 7 Days a Week � � � �
Handling of Buyer 

Enquiries

Online Enquiry Forwarding � � � �

Conduct Open For 
Inspections, Final 
Inspection & keys 

handover

24/7 Phone Enquiry System � � � � �

Market Comparison Report � � � �
Free Property 

Appraisal

4 Hours Export Vendoor Support � � �
Completion of 

Paperwork

Professional Copywriting � � � �

1 Open For Inspection Board � � � �

50 Professionally Printed Brochures � � �
100 x DB sided 

brochures

Floor Plan � � �

Professional Negotiation � �

Feature Listing on realestate.com.au 
or domain.com.au

�

Featured Listing on juwai.com* � � � � �

 *Additional charges may apply
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STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS

We have continued to seek and secure strategic par tnerships and acquis i t ions as wel l as to strengthen 

those par tnerships which we had already enjoyed in the pr ior f inancia l year. 

In October 2016, we announced a strategic par tnership with BeforeYouBid, enabl ing vendors to 

purchase independent Strata, Bui lding and Pest repor ts and pass on a share of the cost of the repor t 

to interested purchasers. This prevents the need for mult iple proper ty inspections as a l l par t ies may 

receive the same repor t, wi th consecutive cash back benef i ts provided back to the or iginal purchaser 

of the repor t as more buyers order the same repor t. A l l par t ies benef i t wi th t ime and cost savings and 

this is par t icular ly useful in both sale by auction and by pr ivate treaty. More recently, we have seen 

legis lat ive changes requir ing pool safety cer t i f icates in NSW upon sale and Queensland upon sale, or i f 

not avai lable, within 90 days of Set t lement.

In December, we completed a $3 mi l l ion capita l ra is ing and f lagged our intention to a l locate some of 

the funds ra ised towards our growth and acquis i t ion strategy. At that t ime we announced our objective 

to invest in areas of strategic interest, which complement the group’s commission-f ree real estate 

business and provide s igni f icant potentia l in addit ional earnings streams leveraging of f the group’s 

core business.

In July 2017, we announced the acquis i t ion of MyPlace Conveyancing (MPC). MyPlace Conveyancing 

is an onl ine conveyancing business providing serv ices to proper ty buyers and sel lers across NSW, 

VIC, QLD and WA with other states rol l ing out in the medium term. I t was founded in October 2014 

in Bendigo, V ictor ia with the backing of local law f i rm Rober tson Hyet ts. Given i ts low cost on-l ine 

business model, MyPlace Conveyancing of fers i ts serv ices at a tangible discount compared to many 

tradi t ional conveyancing serv ices with pr ices star t ing at $795 including disbursements and GST, which 

provides s igni f icant savings on tradi t ional legal f i rms in major metro ci t ies.

We had been recommending MyPlace Conveyancing to our customers s ince mid 2015 and the 

acquis i t ion is a natural f i t for the Company, as the company embraced a disruptive way of managing the 

legal s ide of proper ty transactions, as wel l as providing measureable cost savings to our sel lers 

and buyers.

Going forward we wi l l continue to analyse serv ices our vendors require and continue to develop our 

of fer ing of a complete one stop shop for a l l your proper ty requirements. At the t ime of wr i t ing we have 

also secured a personal f inance of fer ing through Flex iGroup for interest f ree and pay-over-t ime f inance 

faci l i t ies to assist with proper ty sales and conveyancing costs as wel l as to enable vendors to complete 

renovations on their proper ty pr ior to sel l ing or when re locating to their new home.
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The directors present their repor t, together with the f inancial 
statements, on the consol idated enti t y (referred to hereaf ter 
as the ‘consol idated enti t y ’) consist ing of buyMyplace.com.
au Limited (referred to hereaf ter as the ‘company’ or ‘parent 
enti t y ’) and the enti t ies i t control led at the end of, or dur ing, 
the year ended 30 June 2017.
 
DIRECTORS

The fol lowing persons were directors of buyMyplace.com.au L imited dur ing the whole of the f inancia l 

year and up to the date of this repor t, unless otherwise stated:

•	 Mat thew Dr iscol l (Non-Executive Chairman)

•	 Cameron Fisher (Executive Director)

•	 Paul Spot t iswood (Non-Executive Director) 

•	 Peter But terss (Non-Executive Director) 

•	 Rober t K ipp (Non-Executive Director) (resigned on 30 May 2017) 

DIVIDENDS

There were no div idends paid, recommended or declared dur ing the current or previous f inancia l year.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The loss for the consol idated enti ty af ter providing for income tax amounted to $3,819,265 (30 June 

2016: $4,647,023).

Dur ing the per iod, the Consol idated Enti ty received revenue of $2,198,828 (2016: $1,176,992). This 

included products and serv ices revenue of $2,102,105 and other income of $96,723.Fur thermore, the 

Group’s gross margin decreased by 6 percent to 68 percent down f rom 74 percent last f inancia l year.

Expenses tota l led $6,018,093 for the 2017 f inancia l year (2016: $5,816,793). Key expenditure included 

adver t is ing of $1,463,629 (2016: $668,993) which was mainly made up of TV adver t is ing expenditure. 

Share based payment expenses of $856,164 re late to per formance r ights and options valuations which 

are expensed over the re levant vesting per iod (2016: $1,040,167).Refer to rev iew of operations in CEO 

Repor t proceeding this Director’s Repor t.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

On 9 August 2016, the Consol idated Enti ty issued 900,000 per formance r ights and 900,000 unl isted 

options to an employee in accordance with the incentive options scheme and per formance r ights plan.



23

buyMyplace.com.au Limited Annual Report 2017

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

On 22 December 2016, the Consol idated Enti ty issued 8,451,192 shares at $0.355 (35.5 cents) under 

i ts fu l ly underwr i t ten pro-rata non-renounceable Rights Issue Of fer, ra is ing $3,000,173 before equi ty 

ra is ing costs.

There were no other s igni f icant changes in the state of af fa i rs of the consol idated enti ty dur ing the 

f inancia l year.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

On 20 July 2017, the Company announced that i t had s igned a condit ional agreement to acquire 100% 

of MyPlace Conveyancing Pty Ltd.

On 28 July 2017, the Company issued 583,775 ful ly paid ordinary shares (‘Complet ion shares’) at 

a deemed issue pr ice of $0.1713 (17.13 cents) per share, subject to a 12 month voluntary escrow, 

pursuant to the Share Sale Deed entered into by the Company to acquire a l l of the issued capita l in 

MyPlace Conveyancing Pty Ltd f rom the Vendors.In addit ion to this and as par t of the purchase pr ice, 

the Company also made a cash payment of $150,000 to the Vendors.The Vendors are a lso enti t led to 

an earn out of up to $150,000 wor th of fu l ly paid ordinary BMP shares (Earn Out Shares) to be issued at 

the VWAP over the 30 day per iod preceding the issue of the shares. The issue of the Earn Out Shares 

in subject to cer ta in Per formance Hurdles being satisf ied.

On 1 August 2017, the Company announced that the acquis i t ion of a l l issued shares in MyPlace 

Conveyancing Pty Ltd had been completed.

The acquis i t ion accounting has not been completed as at the date of this repor t, however the Company 

has acquired plant and equipment, receivables, goodwi l l , and payables.

On 8 August 2017, the Company issued a tota l of 1,950,000 unl isted options and 1,950,000 

per formance r ights to employees of the Company. The options and per formance r ights were issued 

with var ious vesting dates and per formance hurdles.

No other mat ter or c i rcumstance has ar isen s ince 30 June 2017 that has s igni f icantly af fected, or 

may s igni f icantly af fect the consol idated enti ty’s operat ions, the resul ts of those operations, or the 

consol idated enti ty’s state of af fa i rs in future f inancia l years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Looking forward, the Group is planning fur ther expansion in strategic par tnerships as wel l as enhanced 

product of fer ings and to grow the business at a s imi lar tra jectory to what i t has exper ienced since re-

admission to the ASX in March 2016.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

The consol idated enti ty is not subject to any s igni f icant environmental regulat ion under Austra l ian 

Commonwealth or State law.
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Matthew Driscoll
Non-Executive Chairman

 
QUALIFICATIONS:

B.A,Grad.Dip Edu., Grad Dip App Fin., SF FIN, GAICD, MSAA

EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTISE:	

Mr Dr iscol l has a Bachelor of Ar ts Degree, a Graduate Diploma in Education and a Graduate Diploma 

of Appl ied Finance. In addit ion, Mat thew is a Master of the Stockbrokers and Financia l Advisers 

Associat ion of Austra l ia, a Graduate member of the Inst i tute of Company Directors and a Senior 

Fel low of the Financia l Serv ices Inst i tute of Austra lasia. Mat thew has strong networks and signi f icant 

exper ience across several industr ies, including onl ine technologies, f inancia l serv ices, f intech, proper ty 

and resources. With over 30 years’ exper ience in the f inancia l serv ices industr y, Mat thew’s exper t ise 

l ies in investment and capita l markets including analysis and evaluation of investment oppor tuni t ies, 

transaction analysis, f inancia l model l ing, debt structur ing, asset and equity valuation and due 

di l igence. Mat thew has worked with numerous companies nur tur ing them from smal l enterpr ises to 

successful l isted businesses.

OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS:

Energy Technologies L imited, Smoke Alarms Holdings L imited, Powerwrap Limited, Advocate Strategic 

Investments L imited.

FORMER DIRECTORSHIPS (LAST 3 YEARS):

ILH Group Ltd and Ki l lara Resources Ltd

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES:

Mr M. Dr iscol l was a member of the Audit & Risk Commit tee dur ing the year. Fol lowing Mr Kipps 

resignation on 30 May 2017, the Board agreed to under take the Audit & Risk Commit tee function.

INTERESTS IN SHARES:

2,658,911 ful ly paid ordinary shares

INTERESTS IN OPTIONS:

1,875,000 options (var ious terms detai led in the remuneration repor t)

INTERESTS IN RIGHTS:

1,875,000 per formance r ights (var ious terms detai led in the remuneration repor t)
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EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTIS

Mr But terss is an entrepreneur with exper ience commercia l is ing and growing both disruptive and 

tradi t ional businesses. He has successful ly guided businesses in discipl ines such as Information 

Technology, Recrui tment, Proper ty and Business Transformation. He began his involvement with 

buyMyplace in 2008 as the CEO and guided the company through the in i t ia l star t-up phase. Most 

recently Mr But terss has presided over his fami ly group of companies within the Proper ty and Human 

Capita l Management sectors.  In addit ion, Peter was a founding member of an IT-recrui tment f i rm 

ul t imately known as Ambit Group Pty Ltd, which was sold to ASX-l isted Peoplebank L imited for $100 

mi l l ion in December 2007.

OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS:

None

FORMER DIRECTORSHIPS (LAST 3 YEARS):

None

INTERESTS IN SHARES:

2,991,236 ful ly paid ordinary shares.

INTERESTS IN OPTIONS:

1,875,000 options (var ious terms detai led in the remuneration repor t)

INTERESTS IN RIGHTS:

1,875,000 per formance r ights (var ious terms detai led in the remuneration repor t)

Peter Butterss
Non-Executive Director
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EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTISE:

Mr Fisher was previously the managing director of BuyMyHome Pty Ltd, and is highly qual i f ied in his 

profession. He was previously a director of some of Austra l ia’s leading real estate companies, including 

Bennison Mackinnon and Talbot Birner Mor ley ( TBM) af ter commencing his f i rst real estate business 

when he was 26 years of age. He is a fu l ly Accredi ted Auctioneer with over 5,000 successful auctions 

under his bel t; and advisor to leading inst i tut ions, developers, accountancy practices and law f i rms.

OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS:

Managing Director of Changing Places Real Estate Consul tants Pty Ltd

FORMER DIRECTORSHIPS (LAST 3 YEARS):

None

INTERESTS IN SHARES:

7,283,703 ful ly paid ordinary shares

INTERESTS IN OPTIONS:

1,875,000 options (var ious terms detai led in the remuneration repor t)

INTERESTS IN RIGHTS:

1,875,000 per formance r ights (var ious terms detai led in the remuneration repor t)

Cameron Fisher
Executive Director
 
 
 
QUALIFICATIONS:

AVLE(VAL), AREI
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EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTIS

Mr Spot t iswood is an entrepreneur ia l corporate and strategic adviser, having spent over f i f teen years in 

mergers and acquis i t ions, capi ta l ra is ing and business and investment fund establ ishment roles. Paul’s 

depth of exper ience is ev idenced by successful ro les in investment banking (with Macquar ie and Credit 

Suisse), dynamic in-house strategic and corporate development roles and, more recently, advisory 

roles for mid-market companies (333 Capita l ). He has provided advice international ly (par t icular ly in 

Europe and Asia) and across the real estate, inf rastructure, logist ics, f inancia l serv ices, ret i rement 

l iv ing, reta i l , hospita l i t y and technology industr ies. Paul’s c l ients include pr ivate and l isted companies, 

superannuation funds and high net wor th investors.

OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS:

None

FORMER DIRECTORSHIPS (LAST 3 YEARS):

None

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES:

Mr. P Spot t iswood was a member of the Audit & Risk Commit tee dur ing the year. Fol lowing Mr Kipps 

resignation on 30 May 2017, the Board agreed to under take the Audit & Risk Commit tee function.

INTERESTS IN SHARES:

250,000 ful ly paid ordinary shares

INTERESTS IN OPTIONS:

82,720 options (var ious terms detai led in the remuneration repor t)

INTERESTS IN RIGHTS:

82,720 per formance r ights (var ious terms detai led in the remuneration repor t)

Paul Spottiswood
Non-Executive Director
 
 
QUALIFICATIONS

B.Com, LLB, CFA , MAICD
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EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTISE:

Mr Kipp has over 29 years commercia l exper ience and br ings a wealth of knowledge f rom his 

background in accounting, capi ta l ra is ings, tax, change management, corporate governance, corporate 

strategy, mergers and acquis i t ions. He has held senior executive posi t ions including Managing Director 

of Premium Investors Ltd, an ASX l isted investment company, and Company Secretary and CFO of 

Treasury Group Ltd, Austra l ian funds management and investment companies l isted on the ASX with 

over AUD$15 bi l l ion in funds under management. Speci f ic industr ies of exper t ise include, f inancia l 

serv ices, proper ty, professional serv ices, FMCG, manufactur ing, mining, funds management and 

technology.

He was a founding director of K i l lara Resources Ltd. Rober t became Managing Director on 17 June 

2013, unti l 19 June 2014 when he became a non-executive director.

OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS:

None

FORMER DIRECTORSHIPS (LAST 3 YEARS):

None

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES:

Mr R. Kipp was Chair of the Audit & Risk Commit tee dur ing the year. Fol lowing Mr Kipps resignation on 

30 May 2017, the Board agreed to under take the Audit & Risk Commit tee function.

‘Other current di rectorships’ quoted above are current di rectorships for l isted enti t ies only and 

excludes directorships of a l l other types of enti t ies, unless otherwise stated.

‘Former directorships ( last 3 years)’ quoted above are directorships held in the last 3 years for l isted 

enti t ies only and excludes directorships of a l l other types of enti t ies, unless otherwise stated.

Robert Kipp
Non-Executive Director
(appointed on 28 February 2011, Resigned on 30 May 2017 )

QUALIFICATIONS:

B.Bus (Acc) B.Bus (Marketing), M. App Fin., F in. FCPA.,F.Fin., 

GA CD
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

The number of meetings of the company’s Board of Directors (‘ the Board’) and commit tees held dur ing 

the year ended 30 June 2017, and the number of meetings at tended by each director were: 

 

Ful l Board Audit and Risk Commit tee

At tended Held At tended Held

Matthew Dr iscol l 13 13 2 2 

Cameron Fisher 13 13 - -

Paul Spot t iswood 13 13 2 2 

Peter But terss 13 13 - -

Rober t K ipp 12 12 2 2 

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)

The remuneration repor t detai ls the key management personnel remuneration arrangements for the 

consol idated enti ty, in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and i ts Regula-

t ions.

Key management personnel are those persons having author i ty and responsibi l i t y for planning, 

di recting and control l ing the activ i t ies of the enti ty, di rectly or indirectly, including al l di rectors.

The remuneration repor t is set out under the fol lowing main headings:

•	 ●	  Pr inciples used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

•	 ●	  Detai ls of remuneration

•	 ●	  Serv ice agreements

•	 ●	  Share-based compensation

•	 ●	  Addit ional information

•	 ●	  Addit ional disclosures re lat ing to key management personnel
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PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT 
OF REMUNERATION

The pr inciples of the Group’s executive strategy and suppor t ing incentive programs and 

f rameworks are:

•	 ●	  to a l ign rewards to business outcomes that del iver value to shareholders;

•	 ●	  to dr ive a high per formance culture by set t ing chal lenging objectives and rewarding high per forming 	

	 indiv iduals; and 

•	 ●	  to ensure remuneration is competi t ive in the re levant employment market place to suppor t the 	

	 at traction , motivat ion and retention of executive ta lent

The Group has a structured remuneration f ramework that is market competi t ive and complementary to 

the reward strategy of the Group.

The Board does not have a separate Remuneration Commit tee, so the role of the remuneration 

commit tee is under taken by the ful l Board. The Corporate Governance Statement provides fur ther 

information on the role of the Remuneration Commit tee.

The remuneration structure that has been adopted by the Group consists of the fol lowing components: 

•	 ●	  f ixed remuneration being annual salar y; and 

•	 ●	  shor t term incentives, being employee share schemes and bonuses

The Board assess the appropr iateness of the nature and amount of remuneration on a per iodic basis 

by reference to recent employment market condit ions with the overal l objective of ensur ing maximum 

stakeholder benef i t f rom the retention of a high qual i t y Board and Executive Team. 

The payment of bonuses, share options and other incentive payments are rev iewed by the Board 

annual ly as par t of the rev iew of executive remuneration. Al l bonuses, options and incentives must be 

l inked to predetermined per formance cr i ter ia.

Short-term incentives:

The Board may exercise discret ion in re lat ion to approving incentives, bonuses and options. The pol icy 

is to at tract the highest cal ibre of executives and reward them for per formance that resul ts in long-term 

growth in shareholder wealth.Executives are enti t led to par t ic ipate in the employee share and option 

arrangements. Al l remuneration paid to directors and executives is valued at the cost to the Company 

and expensed. Shares provided to directors and executives are valued as the di f ference between the 

market pr ice of those shares and the amount paid by the director or executive. Options are valued 

using the binomial option pr ic ing model. Shares and options are provided to directors and senior 

executives; and are detai led in the remuneration repor t.

Per formance based remuneration:

The payment of bonuses, share options and other incentive payments are rev iewed by the board 

annual ly as par t of the rev iew of executive remuneration. Al l bonuses, options and incentives must be 

l inked to predetermined per formance cr i ter ia.
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Relationship between remuneration and the Company’s per formance:

The remuneration pol icy has been ta i lored to increase goal congruence between shareholders and 

directors and executives. Currently, th is is faci l i tated through the issue of options to the major i ty of 

di rectors, executives and senior managers to encourage the al ignment of personal and shareholder 

interests. The Company bel ieves the pol icy wi l l be ef fect ive in increasing shareholder weal th.

Non-executive directors remuneration:

On appointment to the board, a l l non-executive directors enter into a serv ice agreement with the 

Company. The agreement summarises the board pol ic ies and terms, including remuneration, re levant 

to the of f ice of di rector. Non-executive directors may be paid fees or other amounts as the directors 

determine where a director per forms specia l duties or otherwise per forms serv ices outside the scope 

of the ordinary duties of a director. A director may also be re imbursed for out of pocket expenses 

incurred as a resul t of their di rectorship or any specia l duties. Fees provided to non-executive directors 

are inclusive of superannuation.Fees for non-executive directors are not l inked to the per formance 

of the Company. However, to a l ign directors’ interests with shareholder interests, the non-executive 

directors may hold shares in the Company and with Board and shareholder approval may par t ic ipate in 

the employee option plan.The Board pol icy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for 

comparable companies for t ime, commitment and responsibi l i t ies. The Board determines payments to 

the non-executive directors and rev iews their remuneration annual ly, based on market practice, duties 

and accountabi l i t y. Independent ex ternal advice is sought when required.The maximum aggregate 

directors’ fee pool for non-executive directors is $250,000 and was approved by shareholders as par t 

of the Consti tut ion of the Company at the annual general meeting on 28 November 2011.

Voting and comments made at the company’s 25 November 2016 Annual General 
Meeting (‘AGM’)

At the 2016 AGM, 99.69% of the votes received suppor ted the adoption of the remuneration repor t for 

the year ended 30 June 2016. The company did not receive any speci f ic feedback at the AGM regarding 

i ts remuneration practices.



32

buyMyplace.com.au Limited Annual Report 2017

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DETAILS OF REMUNERATION

Amounts of remuneration

Detai ls of the remuneration of key management personnel of the consol idated enti ty are set out in the 

fol lowing tables.

The key management personnel of the consol idated enti ty consisted of the fol lowing directors of 

buyMyplace.com.au L imited:

•	 ●	  Mathew Dr iscol l  - Non-Executive Chairman

•	 ●	  Rober t K ipp - Non-Executive Director (resigned on 30 May 2017)

•	 ●	  Paul Spot t iswood - Non-Executive Director

•	 ●	  Peter But terss - Non-Executive Director

•	 ●	  Cameron Fisher - Executive Director

And the fol lowing person:

•	 ●	  Paul Heath - Chief Executive Of f icer

Short-term benefits
Post-
employment 
benefits

Long-
term Share-based payments

2017

Cash 
salary
and fees 
- $

Cash
bonus 
- $

Non-
monetary 
- $

Super-
annuation - $

Long 
service
leave 
- $

Options 
- $

Performance
rights - $

Total - $

Non-Executive Directors:

Matthew 
Driscoll

70,000 - - - - - 68,981 138,981 

Robert Kipp * 41,857 - - 3,976 - - - 45,833 

Paul 
Spottiswood

50,000 - - - - - - 50,000 

Peter Butterss 50,000 - - - - - 68,981 118,981 

Executive Directors:

Cameron Fisher 215,700 - - 9,025 - - 68,981 293,706 

Other Key Management Personnel:

Paul Heath ** 379,980 76,000 - 19,616 - 187,540 137,962 801,098 

807,537 76,000 - 32,617 - 187,540 344,905 1,448,599 

*	 Mr Rober t K ipp resigned as a Di rector on 30 May 2017.
**	 The bonus included for Mr Paul Heath is the est imated ST I amount which is yet to be f ina l ised.
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Short-term benefits
Post-
employment 
benefits

Long-
term Share-based payments

2016

Cash 
salary
and fees 
- $

Cash
bonus 
- $

Non-
monetary 
- $

Super-
annuation - $

Long 
service
leave 
- $

Options 
- $

Performance
rights - $

Total - $

Non-Executive Directors:

Matthew 
Driscoll

20,417 - - - - 163,627 23,057 207,101 

Paul 
Spottiswood*

12,500 - - - - - - 12,500 

Peter Butterss 14,583 - - - - 163,627 23,057 201,267 

Robert Kipp 13,566 - - 1,289 - 163,627 23,057 201,539 

Executive Directors:

Cameron Fisher 51,264 - - 344 - 163,627 23,057 238,292 

Other Key Management Personnel:

Paul Heath 90,451 50,000 12,000 5,736 - 97,433 46,113 301,733 

202,781 50,000 12,000 7,369 - 751,941 138,341 1,162,432 

*	 P. Spot t iswood was appointed as a Di rector on 1 Apr i l 2016.

The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows:

Fixed remuneration At risk - LTI At risk - LTI

Name 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Non-Executive Directors:

Matthew Driscoll 50% 9% - - 50% 91% 

Robert Kipp 100% 7% - - - 93% 

Paul Spottiswood 100% 100% - - - -

Peter Butterss 42% 7% - - 58% 93% 

Executive Directors:

Cameron Fisher 76% 22% - - 24% 78% 

Other Key Management 
Personnel:

Paul Heath 47% 32% 15% 21% 38% 47% 
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SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service agreements. Details 
of these agreements are as follows:

Name: Cameron Fisher

Title: Executive Director

Term of agreement: Three (3) years

Details: Base salary of $130,000 per annum with a one month notice period.

Name: Paul Heath

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Term of agreement: Three (3) years

Details: Base salary of $375,000 per annum with a one month notice period.

Name: Matthew Driscoll

Title: Non-Executive Chairman

Agreement commenced: Base salary of $70,000 per annum.

Name: Paul Spottiswood

Title: Non-Executive Director

Agreement commenced: Base salary of $50,000 per annum.

Name: Peter Butterss

Title: Non-Executive Director

Agreement commenced: Base salary of $50,000 per annum.

Key management personnel have no enti t lement to termination payments in the event of removal 

for misconduct.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Issue of shares

There were no shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as par t of 

compensation dur ing the year ended 30 June 2017.
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Options

The terms and condit ions of each grant of options over ordinary shares af fect ing remuneration of 

di rectors and other key management personnel in this f inancia l year or future repor t ing years are as 

fol lows:

Grant date Vesting date and
exercisable date Expiry date Exercise price Fair value per option

at grant date

29/02/2016 Various vesting conditions* 28/02/2021 $0.250 $0.098 

29/02/2016 Various vesting conditions** 28/02/2021 $0.300 $0.087 

29/02/2016 Various vesting conditions*** 28/02/2021 $0.350 $0.077 

29/02/2016 Various vesting conditions* 28/02/2021 $0.250 $0.135 

29/02/2016 Various vesting conditions** 28/02/2021 $0.300 $0.125 

29/02/2016 Various vesting conditions*** 28/02/2021 $0.350 $0.114 

04/03/2016 Various vesting conditions* 28/02/2021 $0.250 $0.097 

04/03/2016 Various vesting conditions** 28/02/2021 $0.300 $0.087 

04/03/2016 Various vesting conditions*** 28/02/2021 $0.350 $0.077 

*	 Opt ions vest upon cont inuous employment unt i l  30 November 2016 or vo lume weighted average share pr ice over 10 	
	 consecut ive t rading days is greater than $0.25

**	 Opt ions vest upon cont inuous employment unt i l  30 November 2016 or vo lume weighted average share pr ice over 10 	
	 consecut ive t rading days is greater than $0.30

***	 Opt ions vest upon cont inuous employment unt i l  30 November 2016 or vo lume weighted average share pr ice over 10 	
	 consecut ive t rading days is greater than $0.40
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I t is noted that the CEO’s options vest in three tranches, upon continuous employment unti l 30 

November 2016, 30 November 2017, and 30 November 2018 respective ly.

Options granted carr y no div idend or voting r ights.

The number of options over ordinary shares granted to and vested by directors and other key 

management personnel as par t of compensation dur ing the year ended 30 June 2017 are set out below:

Number of 
options granted 
during the
year

Number of 
options granted 
during the
year

Number of 
options
vested during the
year

Number of 
options
vested during the
year

Name 2017 2016 2017 2016

Matthew Driscoll - 1,875,000 - 1,875,000 

Robert Kipp - 1,875,000 - 1,875,000 

Paul Spottiswood - 82,720 - 82,720 

Peter Butterss - 1,875,000 - 1,875,000 

Cameron Fisher - 1,875,000 - 1,875,000 

Paul Heath - 3,000,000 1,000,000 -

Values of options over ordinary shares granted, exercised and lapsed for di rectors and other key 

management personnel as par t of compensation dur ing the year ended 30 June 2017 are set out below:

Value of options
granted during 
the year

Value of options
granted
during the prior 
year

Name $ $

Matthew Driscoll - 163,628

Robert Kipp - 163,628

Paul Spottiswood - -

Peter Butterss - 163,628

Cameron Fisher - 163,628

Paul Heath - 373,628
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PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

The terms and condit ions of each grant of per formance r ights over ordinary shares af fect ing 

remuneration of di rectors and other key management personnel in this f inancia l year or future repor t ing 

years are as fol lows:

Grant date Vesting date and
exercisable date Expiry date

Fair value
per right
at grant date

29/02/2016 30/06/2019* 30/06/2019 $0.184 

29/02/2016 30/06/2019** 30/06/2019 $0.184 

29/02/2016 30/06/2019*** 30/06/2019 $0.184 

29/02/2016 30/06/2019* 30/06/2019 $0.230 

29/02/2016 30/06/2019** 30/06/2019 $0.230 

29/02/2016 30/06/2019*** 30/06/2019 $0.230 

04/03/2016 30/06/2019* 30/06/2019 $0.184 

04/03/2016 30/06/2019** 30/06/2019 $0.184 

04/03/2016 30/06/2019*** 30/06/2019 $0.184 

*	 The Company achiev ing 8,000 proper t y l ist ings in any f inancia l year between 29 Februar y 2016 and 30 June 2019

**	 The Company achiev ing revenue of $10 mi l l ion or more in any f inancia l year between 29 Februar y 2016 and 30 June 	
	 2019

***	 The Company achiev ing EBIDA of $3 mi l l ion or more in any f inancia l year between 29 Februar y 2016 and 30 June 2019

Per formance r ights granted carr y no div idend or voting r ights.
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The number of per formance r ights over ordinary shares granted to and vested by directors and other 

key management personnel as par t of compensation dur ing the year ended 30 June 2017 are set out 

below:

Number of rights
granted during 
the year

Number of rights
granted during 
the year

Number of rights
vested during the
year

Number of rights
vested during the
year

Name 2017 2016 2017 2016

Matthew Driscoll - 1,875,000 - -

Robert Kipp - 1,875,000 - -

Paul Spottiswood - 82,720 - -

Peter Butterss - 1,875,000 - -

Cameron Fisher - 1,875,000 - -

Paul Heath - 3,000,000 - -

Values of per formance r ights over ordinary shares granted, vested and lapsed for di rectors and other 

key management personnel as par t of compensation dur ing the year ended 30 June 2017 are set 

out below:

Value of rights
granted during 
the year

Value of rights
granted during 
the prior year

Name $ $

Matthew Driscoll - 230,000

Robert Kipp - 230,000

Paul Spottiswood - -

Peter Butterss - 230,000

Cameron Fisher - 230,000

Paul Heath - 460,000
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The earnings of the consol idated enti ty for the two years to 30 June 2017 are summarised below:

2017 2016

$ $

Revenue 2,198,828 1,176,992 

Net profit/(loss) before tax (3,819,265) (4,639,801)

Net profit/(loss) after tax (3,819,265) (4,647,023)

The factors that are considered to af fect tota l shareholders return (‘TSR’) are summarised below:

2017 2016

Share price at financial year start ($) 0.39 0.31 

Share price at financial year end ($) 0.16 0.39 

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) (6.39) (13.24)

The table only discloses information for the two years to 30 June 2017 instead of f ive years as the 

information pr ior 2015 is not re levant pre acquis i t ion. 

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES RELATING TO KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Shareholding

The number of shares in the company held dur ing the f inancia l year by each director and other 

members of key management personnel of the consol idated enti ty, including their personal ly re lated 

par t ies, is set out below:

Balance at 
the start of 
the year

Received 
as part of 
remuneration

Additions Disposals/ 
other

Balance at 
the end of 
the year

Ordinary shares

Matthew Driscoll 2,658,911 - - - 2,658,911 

Robert Kipp * 1,377,422 - - (1,377,422) -  

Paul Spottiswood 250,000 - - - 250,000 

Peter Butterss 2,991,236 - - - 2,991,236 

Cameron Fisher 7,270,324 - 13,379 - 7,283,703 

Paul Heath 402,281 - 23,826 - 426,107 

14,950,174 - 37,205 (1,377,422) 13,609,957 

*	 Mr Rober t K ipp resigned as a Di rector on 30 May 2017. Opt ion holding
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OPTION HOLDING

The number of options over ordinary shares in the company held dur ing the f inancia l year by each 

director and other members of key management personnel of the consol idated enti ty, including their 

personal ly re lated par t ies, is set out below:

Options over ordinary shares

Balance at 
the start of 
the year

Granted Exercised
Expired/ 
forfeited/ 
other

Balance at 
the end of 
the year

Matthew Driscoll 1,875,000 - - - 1,875,000 

Robert Kipp * 1,875,000 - - (1,875,000) -  

Paul Spottiswood 82,720 - - - 82,720 

Peter Butterss 1,875,000 - - - 1,875,000 

Cameron Fisher 1,875,000 - - - 1,875,000 

Paul Heath 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 

10,582,720 - - (1,875,000) 8,707,720 

*	 Mr Rober t K ipp resigned as a Di rector on 30 May 2017. Mr K ipp has reta ined these opt ions fo l lowing the date of 	
	 cessat ion.

PERFORMANCE RIGHTS HOLDING

The number of per formance r ights over ordinary shares in the company held dur ing the f inancia l year 

by each director and other members of key management personnel of the consol idated enti ty, including 

their personal ly re lated par t ies, is set out below: 

 

Performance rights over ordinary shares

Balance at 
the start of 
the year

Granted Vested
Expired/ 
forfeited/ 
other

Balance at 

the end of 

the year

Matthew Driscoll 1,875,000 - - - 1,875,000 

Robert Kipp * 1,875,000 - - (1,875,000) -  

Paul Spottiswood 82,720 - - - 82,720 

Peter Butterss 1,875,000 - - - 1,875,000 

Cameron Fisher 1,875,000 - - - 1,875,000 

Paul Heath 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 

10,582,720 - - (1,875,000) 8,707,720 

*	 Mr Rober t K ipp resigned as a Di rector on 30 May 2017.
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DEFERRED CONSIDERATION SHARES HELD BY KEY 
MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The number of deferred considerat ion shares in the company held dur ing the f inancia l year by each 

director and other members of key management personnel of the consol idated enti ty, including their 

personal ly re lated par t ies, is set out below:

Deferred consideration shares

Balance at 
the start of 
the year

Granted Vested
Expired/ 
forfeited/ 
other

Balance at 
the end of 
the year

Deferred consideration shares

Peter Butterss 1,794,741 - - - 1,794,741 

Cameron Fisher 4,362,195 - - - 4,362,195 

Paul Heath 16,368 - - - 16,368 

6,173,304 - - - 6,173,304 

Related par ty transactions

Throughout the f inancia l year, Cameron Fisher has provided consul t ing serv ices to BuyMyHome Pty 

Ltd, YTD consul t ing fees are $90,000

M. Fisher, a fami ly member of Cameron Fisher is an employee of BuyMyHome Pty Ltd s ince 1 March 

2017, dur ing the f inancia l year, she received fol lowing shor t-term benef i ts:  

•	 Wages AUD 46,500, Bonus AUD 5,176, Super AUD 4,909

•	 Movements in provis ion AUD 4,090, Bonus Accrual AUD 480

Throughout the f inancia l year, A L Heath has provided professional fees to BuyMyHome Pty Ltd for 

potentia l acquis i t ion of Homesel l Group in New Zealand, and the YTD consul t ing fees are $9,955. A L 

Heath is a re lated par ty to Paul Heath. 

Sub-let of operating lease

Dur ing the current and pr ior year, proper ty under operating lease has been sub-let to a company of 

which C. Fisher is a director and benef ic ia l owner. Deal ings are in commercia l terms and condit ions. 

Total sub-lease income for the year was $91,372 (2016: $18,553).

This concludes the remuneration report , which has been audited.
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SHARES UNDER OPTION

Unissued ordinary shares of buyMyplace.com.au L imited under option at the date of this repor t are 

as fol lows:

Grant date Expiry date Exercise 
price

Number 
under option

29/02/2016 28/02/2021 $0.250 4,100,000 

29/02/2016 28/02/2021 $0.300 4,100,000 

29/02/2016 28/02/2021 $0.350 4,100,000 

04/03/2016 28/02/2021 $0.250 625,000 

04/03/2016 28/02/2021 $0.300 625,000 

04/03/2016 28/02/2021 $0.350 625,000 

09/08/2016 09/08/2021 $0.250 300,000 

26/05/2017 26/05/2022 $0.450 300,000 

26/05/2017 26/05/2022 $0.500 300,000 

26/05/2017 26/05/2022 $0.550 300,000 

13/06/2017 13/06/2022 $0.450 350,000 

13/06/2017 13/06/2022 $0.500 350,000 

13/06/2017 13/06/2022 $0.550 350,000 

16,425,000 

No person enti t led to exercise the options had or has any r ight by v i r tue of the option to par t ic ipate in 

any share issue of the company or of any other body corporate.
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SHARES UNDER PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

Unissued ordinary shares of buyMyplace.com.au L imited under per formance r ights at the date of this 

repor t are as fol lows:

Grant date Expiry date Number 
under rights

29/02/2016 30/06/2019* 3,475,000 

29/02/2016 30/06/2019** 3,475,000 

29/02/2016 30/06/2019*** 3,475,000 

04/03/2016 30/06/2019* 625,000 

04/03/2016 30/06/2019** 625,000 

04/03/2016 30/06/2019*** 625,000 

26/05/2017 30/06/2019* 300,000 

26/05/2017 30/06/2019** 300,000 

26/05/2017 30/06/2019*** 300,000 

13/06/2017 30/06/2019* 350,000 

13/06/2017 30/06/2019** 350,000 

13/06/2017 30/06/2019*** 350,000 

14,250,000 

*	 The Company achiev ing 8,000 proper t y l ist ings in any f inancia l year between 29 Februar y 2016 and 30 June 2019 

*	 The Company achiev ing revenue of $10 mi l l ion or more in any f inancia l year between 29 	Februar y 2016 and 30 June 	
	 2019 

*	 The Company achiev ing EBITDA of $3 mi l l ion or more in any f inancia l year between 29 Februar y 2016 and 30 June 	
	 2019

No person enti t led to exercise the per formance r ights had or has any r ight by v i r tue of the per formance 

r ight to par t ic ipate in any share issue of the company or of any other body corporate.
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SHARES UNDER DEFERRED CONSIDERATION 

Unissued ordinary shares of buyMyplace.com.au L imited under deferred considerat ion shares at the 

date of this repor t are as fol lows:

Milestones Expiry date Deferred 
consideration shares

The Company achieving 8,000 property listings in 
any financial year between 29 February 2016 and 
30 June 2019

30/06/2019 5,000,001 

The Company achieving revenue of $10 million or 
more in  any financial year between 29 February 
2016 and 30 June 2019

30/06/2019 5,000,001 

The Company achieving EBITDA of $3 million or 
more in any financial year between 29 February 
2016 and 30 June 2019

30/06/2019 5,000,001 

15,000,003 

SHARES ISSUED ON THE EXERCISE OF OPTIONS

The fol lowing ordinary shares of buyMyplace.com.au L imited were issued dur ing the year ended 30 

June 2017 and up to the date of this repor t on the exercise of options granted: 

Date options granted Exercise 
price

Number of 
shares issued

29 February 2016 $0.250 150,000 

SHARES ISSUED ON THE EXERCISE OF PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

There were no ordinary shares of buyMyplace.com.au L imited issued on the exercise of per formance 

r ights dur ing the year ended 30 June 2017 and up to the date of this repor t.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS

The company has indemni f ied the directors and executives of the company for costs incurred, in their 

capaci ty as a director or executive, for which they may be held personal ly l iable, except where there is 

a lack of good fa i th.

Dur ing the f inancia l year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors 

and executives of the company against a l iabi l i t y to the extent permit ted by the Corporations Act 

2001. The contract of insurance prohibi ts disclosure of the nature of the l iabi l i t y and the amount of the 

premium.
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INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF AUDITOR

The company has not, dur ing or s ince the end of the f inancia l year, indemni f ied or agreed to indemni f y 

the auditor of the company or any re lated enti ty against a l iabi l i t y incurred by the auditor.

Dur ing the f inancia l year, the company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the 

auditor of the company or any re lated enti ty.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY

No person has appl ied to the Cour t under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to br ing 

proceedings on behal f of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company 

is a par ty for the purpose of tak ing responsibi l i t y on behal f of the company for a l l or par t of those 

proceedings.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES

Grant Thornton received or are due to receive the fol lowing amounts for the provis ion of non-audit 

serv ices for the Group: 

The directors are satisf ied that the provis ion of non-audit serv ices dur ing the f inancia l year, by the 

auditor (or by another person or f i rm on the auditor’s behal f ), is compatible with the general standard of 

independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

The directors are of the opinion that the serv ices as disclosed in note 22 to the f inancia l statements do 

not compromise the external audi tor’s independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001:

•	 Other compl iance and advisory serv ices

OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY WHO ARE FORMER PARTNERS OF GRANT 
THORNTON

There are no of f icers of the company who are former par tners of Grant Thornton.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

A copy of the auditor’s independence declarat ion as required under section 307C of the Corporations 

Act 2001 is set out immediate ly af ter this di rectors’ repor t.
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AUDITOR

Grant Thornton continues in of f ice in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

This repor t is made in accordance with a resolut ion of di rectors, pursuant to section 298(2) (a) of the 

Corporations Act 2001.

On behal f of the directors

Matthew Driscoll 
Chairman 
31 August 2017
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the 
context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm 
is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and 
are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its 
Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

The Rialto, Level 30
525 Collins St
Melbourne Victoria  3000

Correspondence to: 
GPO Box 4736
Melbourne Victoria 3001

T +61 3 8320 2222
F +61 3 8320 2200
E info.vic@au.gt.com
W www.grantthornton.com.au

 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
TO THE DIRECTORS OF BUYMYPLACE.COM.AU LIMITED
 
In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor 
for the audit of buyMyplace.com.au Limited for the year ended 30 June 2017, I declare that, to the 
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

B A Mackenzie
Partner - Audit & Assurance

Melbourne, 31 August 2017
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Statement Of Prof it Or Loss And Other 
Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Consolidated

Note 2017 - $ 2016 - $

Revenue 5 2,102,105 1,084,599 

Other income 6 96,723 92,393 

Expenses

Cost of sales (697,637) (310,906)

Legal and business services (928,192) (404,673)

Advertising and marketing expenses (1,463,629) (668,993)

Salaries and employment expenses (1,666,799) (653,635)

Listing Expenses -  (2,405,176)

Depreciation and amortisation expenses (68,851) (10,980)

Share-based payments expenses (856,164) (1,040,167)

Finance costs (716) (6,507)

Other expenses (336,105) (315,756)

Loss before income tax expense (3,819,265) (4,639,801)

Income tax (expense)/benefit 7 -  (7,222)

Loss after income tax expense for the year attributable to the 
owners of buyMyplace.com.au Limited

(3,819,265) (4,647,023)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax -  -  

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year attributable to 
the owners of buyMyplace.com.au Limited

(3,819,265) (4,647,023)

Cents Cents

Basic (loss)/earnings per share 31 (6.39) (13.24)

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share 31 (6.39) (13.24)
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Statement Of Financial Position

Consolidated Consolidated

Assets 2017 - $ 2016 - $

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8 2,553,317 2,473,299 

Trade and other receivables 9 71,531 78,885 

Prepayments 56,767 44,218 

Total current assets 2,681,615 2,596,402 

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment 10 104,892 100,664 

Intangible assets 11 160,352 44,134 

Other non-financial assets 40,465 40,333 

Total non-current assets 305,709 185,131 

Total assets 2,987,324 2,781,533 

Liabilities 2017 - $ 2016 - $

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 785,321 468,203 

Borrowings 13 -  28,347 

Employee benefits provision 14 93,174 14,664 

Total current liabilities 878,495 511,214 

Non-current liabilities

Other non-financial liabilities -  26,889 

Total non-current liabilities -  26,889 

Total liabilities 878,495 538,103 

Net assets 2,108,829 2,243,430 

Equity 2017 - $ 2016 - $

Issued capital 15 15,913,716 13,064,988 

Share-based payment reserve 17 2,202,907 1,432,761 

Accumulated losses (16,007,794) (12,254,319)

Total equity 2,108,829 2,243,430 
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Statement Of Changes In Equity

Consolidated Contributed
equity - $

Share-based 
payment
reserve - $

Accumulated
losses - $

Total equity 
- $

Balance at 1 July 2015 7,827,354 - (7,608,093) 219,261 

Loss after income tax expense for the year - - (4,647,023) (4,647,023)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of 
tax

- - - -  

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year - - (4,647,023) (4,647,023)

Shares issued 4,496,091 - - 4,496,091 

Deemed acquisition of buyMyplace.com.au 1,532,422 - - 1,532,422 

Share based payments - 1,433,558 - 1,433,558 

Options expired or lapsed - (797) 797 -  

Transaction costs in issuing shares (790,879) - - (790,879)

Balance at 30 June 2016 13,064,988 1,432,761 (12,254,319) 2,243,430 

Consolidated Contributed
Equity - $

Share-based 
payment
reserve - $

Accumulated
losses - $

Total equity 
- $

Balance at 1 July 2016 13,064,988 1,432,761 (12,254,319) 2,243,430 

Loss after income tax expense for the year - - (3,819,265) (3,819,265)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of 
tax

- - - -  

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year - - (3,819,265) (3,819,265)

Shares issued 3,038,004 - - 3,038,004 

Transaction costs in issuing shares (209,504) - - (209,504)

Share based payments - 856,164 - 856,164 

Options expired or lapsed - (65,790) 65,790 -  

Exercise of options 20,228 (20,228) - -  

Balance at 30 June 2017 15,913,716 2,202,907 (16,007,794) 2,108,829 



52

buyMyplace.com.au Limited Annual Report 2017

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Statement Of Cash Flows

Consolidated Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities 2017 - $ 2016 - $

Receipts from customers 2,211,255 1,193,059 

Receipts from sub-lessee 91,372  20,409 

Payments to suppliers and employees (4,818,367) (2,429,197)

(2,515,740) (1,215,729)

Interest received 5,351 6,383 

Finance costs paid -  (702)

Net cash used in operating activities 29 (2,510,389) (1,210,048)

Cash flows from investing activities 2017 - $ 2016 - $

Payments for property, plant and equipment (45,796) (34,505)

Payments for intangibles (143,502) (42,493)

Cash acquired through an acquisition of a subsidiary -  4,017,424 

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (189,298) 3,940,426 

Cash flows from financing activities 2017 - $ 2016 - $

Proceeds from issue of shares 3,038,003 -  

Transaction costs on issue of shares (209,503) (272,486)

Repayment of borrowings (48,795) (250,000)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 2,779,705 (522,486)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 80,018 2,207,892 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 2,473,299 265,407 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 8 2,553,317 2,473,299 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The f inancia l statements cover buyMyplace.com.au L imited as a consol idated enti ty consist ing of 

buyMyplace.com.au L imited and the enti t ies i t control led at the end of, or dur ing, the year. The f inancia l 

statements are presented in Austra l ian dol lars, which is buyMyplace.com.au L imited’s functional and 

presentat ion currency.

buyMyplace.com.au L imited is a l isted publ ic company l imited by shares, incorporated and domici led in 

Austra l ia.

A descr ipt ion of the nature of the consol idated enti ty’s operat ions and i ts pr incipal act iv i t ies are 

included in the directors’ repor t, which is not par t of the f inancia l statements.

The f inancia l statements were author ised for issue, in accordance with a resolut ion of di rectors, on 31 

August 2017. The directors have the power to amend and re issue the f inancia l statements.

NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The pr incipal accounting pol ic ies adopted in the preparation of the f inancia l statements are set out 

e i ther in the respective notes or below. These pol ic ies have been consistently appl ied to a l l the years 

presented, unless otherwise stated.

Going concern

The f inancia l repor t has been prepared on a going concern basis. This contemplates continui ty of 

normal business activ i t ies and the real isat ion of assets and set t lement of l iabi l i t ies in the ordinary 

course of business. However, dur ing the f inancia l year ended 30 June 2017 the consol idated enti ty 

exper ienced operating losses before tax of $3,819,265 (30 June 2016: $4,639,801). At 30 June 2017 

the consol idated enti ty had cash and cash equivalents of $2,553,317 (30 June 2016: $2,473,299) 

and net current assets, being current assets less current l iabi l i t ies, of $1,803,120 (30 June 2016: 

$2,085,188). Cash out f lows f rom operating activ i t ies dur ing the f inancia l year were $2,510,389 (30 June 

2016: $1,210,048).

The directors of the consol idated enti ty have prepared a detai led cash f low forecast through to 30 June 

2018 and based on the budgeted expenditure the consol idated enti ty wi l l potentia l ly be required to 

ra ise addit ional funds v ia the form of capi ta l ra is ing, dur ing the next 12 months.

The Directors are conf ident that suf f ic ient funds can be secured i f required by a capita l ra is ing to 

enable the consol idated enti ty to continue as a going concern and as such are of the opinion that the 

f inancia l repor t has been appropr iate ly prepared on a going concern basis.

Basis of preparation

These general purpose f inancia l statements have been prepared in accordance with Austra l ian 

Accounting Standards and Interpretat ions issued by the Austra l ian Accounting Standards Board 

(‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropr iate for for-prof i t or iented enti t ies. These f inancia l 

statements a lso comply with International F inancia l Repor t ing Standards as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (‘ IASB’).
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Historical cost convention

The f inancia l statements have been prepared under the histor ical cost convention, except for, where 

appl icable, the revaluation of avai lable-for-sale f inancia l assets, f inancia l assets and l iabi l i t ies at fa i r 

value through prof i t or loss, investment proper t ies, cer ta in classes of proper ty, plant and equipment 

and der ivat ive f inancia l instruments.

Parent entity information

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these f inancia l statements present the resul ts of the 

consol idated enti ty only. Supplementary information about the parent enti ty is disclosed in note 26.

Principles of consolidation

The consol idated f inancia l statements incorporate the assets and l iabi l i t ies of a l l subsidiar ies of 

buyMyplace.com.au L imited (‘company’ or ‘parent enti ty’) as at 30 June 2017 and the resul ts of a l l 

subsidiar ies for the year then ended. buyMyplace.com.au L imited and i ts subsidiar ies together are 

referred to in these f inancia l statements as the ‘consol idated enti ty’.

Subsidiar ies are a l l those enti t ies over which the consol idated enti ty has control. The consol idated 

enti ty controls an enti ty when the consol idated enti ty is exposed to, or has r ights to, var iable returns 

f rom i ts involvement with the enti ty and has the abi l i t y to af fect those returns through i ts power to 

direct the activ i t ies of the enti ty. Subsidiar ies are ful ly consol idated f rom the date on which control is 

transferred to the consol idated enti ty. They are de-consol idated f rom the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unreal ised gains on transactions between enti t ies in the 

consol idated enti ty are e l iminated. Unreal ised losses are a lso e l iminated unless the transaction 

provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting pol ic ies of subsidiar ies have 

been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the pol ic ies adopted by the 

consol idated enti ty.

The acquis i t ion of subsidiar ies is accounted for using the acquis i t ion method of accounting. A change 

in ownership interest, wi thout the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the 

di f ference between the considerat ion transferred and the book value of the share of the non-control l ing 

interest acquired is recognised directly in equi ty at tr ibutable to the parent.

Where the consol idated enti ty loses control over a subsidiar y, i t derecognises the assets including 

goodwi l l , l iabi l i t ies and non-control l ing interest in the subsidiar y together with any cumulat ive 

translat ion di f ferences recognised in equi ty. The consol idated enti ty recognises the fa i r value of the 

considerat ion received and the fa i r value of any investment reta ined together with any gain or loss in 

prof i t or loss.

Finance costs

Finance costs at tr ibutable to qual i f y ing assets are capita l ised as par t of the asset. A l l other f inance 

costs are expensed in the per iod in which they are incurred.

Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’) and other similar taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 

incurred is not recoverable f rom the tax author i ty. In this case i t is recognised as par t of the cost of the 

acquis i t ion of the asset or as par t of the expense.
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Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 

amount of GST recoverable f rom, or payable to, the tax author i ty is included in other receivables or 

other payables in the statement of f inancia l posi t ion.

Cash f lows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash f lows ar is ing f rom investing 

or f inancing activ i t ies which are recoverable f rom, or payable to the tax author i ty, are presented as 

operating cash f lows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable f rom, or payable 

to, the tax author i ty.

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted

Austra l ian Accounting Standards and Interpretat ions that have recently been issued or amended but 

are not yet mandatory, have not been ear ly adopted by the consol idated enti ty for the annual repor t ing 

per iod ended 30 June 2017. The consol idated enti ty’s assessment of the impact of these new or 

amended Accounting Standards and Interpretat ions, most re levant to the consol idated enti ty, are set 

out below.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This standard is appl icable to annual repor t ing per iods beginning on or af ter 1 January 2018. The 

standard replaces al l previous vers ions of AASB 9 and completes the project to replace IAS 39 

‘Financia l Instruments: Recognit ion and Measurement’. AASB 9 introduces new classi f icat ion and 

measurement models for f inancia l assets. A f inancia l asset shal l be measured at amor t ised cost, i f i t 

is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to col lect contractual cash 

f lows, which ar ise on speci f ied dates and sole ly pr incipal and interest. A l l other f inancia l instrument 

assets are to be classi f ied and measured at fa i r va lue through prof i t or loss unless the enti ty makes 

an i r revocable e lect ion on in i t ia l recognit ion to present gains and losses on equity instruments (that 

are not held-for-trading) in other comprehensive income (‘OCI’). For f inancia l l iabi l i t ies, the standard 

requires the por t ion of the change in fa i r value that re lates to the enti ty’s own credi t r isk to be 

presented in OCI (unless i t would create an accounting mismatch). New simpler hedge accounting 

requirements are intended to more closely a l ign the accounting treatment with the r isk management 

activ i t ies of the enti ty. New impairment requirements wi l l use an ‘expected credi t loss’ (‘ECL’) model to 

recognise an al lowance. Impairment wi l l be measured under a 12-month ECL method unless the credi t 

r isk on a f inancia l instrument has increased signi f icantly s ince in i t ia l recognit ion in which case the 

l i fet ime ECL method is adopted. The standard introduces addit ional new disclosures. The consol idated 

enti ty wi l l adopt this standard f rom 1 January 2018 but the consol idated enti ty does not expect that i t 

wi l l have a mater ia l impact on implementation. 

 
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This standard is appl icable to annual repor t ing per iods beginning on or af ter 1 January 2018. The 

standard provides a s ingle standard for revenue recognit ion. The core pr inciple of the standard is that 

an enti ty wi l l recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or serv ices to customers 

in an amount that ref lects the considerat ion to which the enti ty expects to be enti t led in exchange 

for those goods or serv ices. The standard wi l l require: contracts (e i ther wr i t ten, verbal or impl ied) 

to be identi f ied, together with the separate per formance obl igat ions within the contract; determine 

the transaction pr ice, adjusted for the t ime value of money excluding credi t r isk; a l location of the 

transaction pr ice to the separate per formance obl igat ions on a basis of re lat ive stand-alone sel l ing 

pr ice of each dist inct good or serv ice, or est imation approach i f no dist inct observable pr ices exist; 

and recognit ion of revenue when each per formance obl igat ion is sat isf ied. 
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Credit r isk wi l l be presented separate ly as an expense rather than adjusted to revenue. For goods, 

the per formance obl igat ion would be satisf ied when the customer obtains control of the goods. For 

serv ices, the per formance obl igat ion is sat isf ied when the serv ice has been provided, typical ly for 

promises to transfer serv ices to customers. For per formance obl igat ions satisf ied over t ime, an enti ty 

would select an appropr iate measure of progress to determine how much revenue should be recognised 

as the per formance obl igat ion is sat isf ied. Contracts with customers wi l l be presented in an enti ty’s 

statement of f inancia l posi t ion as a contract l iabi l i t y, a contract asset, or a receivable, depending on 

the re lat ionship between the enti ty’s per formance and the customer’s payment. Suf f ic ient quanti tat ive 

and qual i tat ive disclosure is required to enable users to understand the contracts with customers; the 

s igni f icant judgements made in apply ing the guidance to those contracts; and any assets recognised 

f rom the costs to obtain or fu l f i l  a contract with a customer. The consol idated enti ty wi l l adopt this 

standard f rom 1 January 2018 but the consol idated enti ty does not expect that i t wi l l have a mater ia l 

impact on implementation.

AASB 16 Leases

This standard is appl icable to annual repor t ing per iods beginning on or af ter 1 January 2019. The 

standard replaces AASB 117 ‘Leases’ and for lessees wi l l e l iminate the classi f icat ions of operat ing 

leases and f inance leases. Subject to exceptions, a ‘r ight-of-use’ asset wi l l be capita l ised in the 

statement of f inancia l posi t ion, measured at the present value of the unavoidable future lease payments 

to be made over the lease term. The exceptions re late to shor t-term leases of 12 months or less 

and leases of low-value assets (such as personal computers and smal l of f ice furni ture) where an 

accounting pol icy choice exists whereby e i ther a ‘r ight-of-use’ asset is recognised or lease payments 

are expensed to prof i t or loss as incurred. A l iabi l i t y corresponding to the capita l ised lease wi l l a lso 

be recognised, adjusted for lease prepayments, lease incentives received, in i t ia l di rect costs incurred 

and an estimate of any future restorat ion, removal or dismantl ing costs. Stra ight- l ine operating lease 

expense recognit ion wi l l be replaced with a depreciat ion charge for the leased asset ( included in 

operat ing costs) and an interest expense on the recognised lease l iabi l i t y ( included in f inance costs). 

In the ear l ier per iods of the lease, the expenses associated with the lease under AASB 16 wi l l be 

higher when compared to lease expenses under AASB 117. However EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, 

Tax, Depreciat ion and Amor t isat ion) resul ts wi l l be improved as the operating expense is replaced 

by interest expense and depreciat ion in prof i t or loss under AASB 16. For c lassi f icat ion within the 

statement of cash f lows, the lease payments wi l l be separated into both a pr incipal ( f inancing activ i t ies) 

and interest (e i ther operat ing or f inancing activ i t ies) component. For lessor accounting, the standard 

does not substantia l ly change how a lessor accounts for leases. The consol idated enti ty wi l l adopt this 

standard f rom 1 January 2019. The enti ty is yet to under take a detai led assessment of the impact of 

AASB 16. However, based on the enti ty’s pre l iminary assessment, the l ike ly impact on the f i rst t ime 

adoption of the Standard for the year ending 30 June 2020 includes:

•	 there wi l l be a s igni f icant increase in lease assets and f inancia l l iabi l i t ies recognised on the balance 

sheet.

•	 the repor ted equity wi l l reduce as the carr y ing amount of lease assets wi l l reduce more quick ly than 

the carr y ing amount of lease l iabi l i t ies.

•	 EBIT in the statement of prof i t or loss and other comprehensive income wi l l be higher as the impl ic i t 

interest in lease payments for former of f balance sheet leases wi l l be presented as par t of f inance 

costs rather than being included in operat ing expenses.

•	 operating cash out f lows wi l l be lower and f inancing cash f lows wi l l be higher in the statement of cash 

f lows as pr incipal repayments on al l lease l iabi l i t ies wi l l now be included in f inancing activ i t ies rather 

than operating activ i t ies. Interest can also be included within f inancing activ i t ies.
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NOTE 3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES 
AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the f inancia l statements requires management to make judgements, est imates and 

assumptions that af fect the repor ted amounts in the f inancia l statements. Management continual ly 

evaluates i ts judgements and estimates in re lat ion to assets, l iabi l i t ies, contingent l iabi l i t ies, revenue 

and expenses. Management bases i ts judgements, est imates and assumptions on histor ical exper i-

ence and on other var ious factors, including expectat ions of future events, management bel ieves to be 

reasonable under the ci rcumstances. The resul t ing accounting judgements and estimates wi l l se ldom 

equal the re lated actual resul ts. The judgements, est imates and assumptions that have a s igni f icant 

r isk of causing a mater ia l adjustment to the carr y ing amounts of assets and l iabi l i t ies (refer to the re-

spective notes) within the next f inancia l year are discussed below.

Share-based payment transactions

The Group measures the cost of equi ty-set t led transactions by reference to the fa i r value of the equi ty 

instruments at the date at which they are granted af ter tak ing into account the terms and condit ions 

upon which the instruments were granted. The fa i r value is determined by using a binomial option 

pr ic ing model, based on a number of cr i t ica l under ly ing assumptions such as r isk f ree rate, volat i l i t y, 

forecast div idends, probabi l i t y of achiev ing the vesting condit ions and the t iming of when they are 

expected to be achieved. The re lated assumptions are detai led in Note 32.

The Group operates equi ty-set t led share-based remuneration plans for i ts di rectors and employees. 

None of the Group’s plans feature any options for a cash set t lement.

Al l goods and serv ices received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured 

at their fa i r values. Where employees are rewarded using share-based payments, the fa i r values of 

employees’ serv ices are determined indirectly by reference to the fa i r value of the equi ty instruments 

granted. This fa i r value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of non-market vesting 

condit ions ( for example prof i tabi l i t y and sales growth targets and per formance condit ions).

A l l share-based remuneration is ul t imately recognised as an expense in prof i t or loss with a 

corresponding credi t to share-based payments reserve. I f vest ing per iods or other vesting condit ions 

apply, the expense is a l located over the vesting per iod, based on the best avai lable est imate of the 

number of equi ty instruments expected to vest.

Non-market vesting condit ions are included in assumptions about the number of equi ty instruments 

that are expected to become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently rev ised i f there is any indication 

that the number of equi ty instruments expected to vest di f fers f rom previous est imates. Any cumulat ive 

adjustment pr ior to vesting is recognised in the current per iod. No adjustment is made to any expense 

recognised in pr ior per iods i f equi ty instrument ul t imately exercised are di f ferent to that est imated 

on vesting.

Upon exercise of equi ty instruments, the proceeds received net of any directly at tr ibutable transaction 

costs are a l located to share capita l.



59

buyMyplace.com.au Limited Annual Report 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income tax

The consol idated enti ty is subject to income taxes in the jur isdict ions in which i t operates. Signi f icant 

judgement is required in determining the provis ion for income tax. There are many transactions and 

calculat ions under taken dur ing the ordinary course of business for which the ul t imate tax determination 

is uncer ta in. The consol idated enti ty recognises l iabi l i t ies for antic ipated tax audit issues based on 

the consol idated enti ty’s current understanding of the tax law. Where the f inal tax outcome of these 

mat ters is di f ferent f rom the carr y ing amounts, such di f ferences wi l l impact the current and deferred 

tax provis ions in the per iod in which such determination is made.

Recovery of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary di f ferences only i f the consol idated 

enti ty considers i t is probable that future taxable amounts wi l l be avai lable to ut i l ise those temporary 

di f ferences and losses.

NOTE 4. OPERATING SEGMENTS

Identif ication of reportable operating segments

The consol idated enti ty operated predominately in the onl ine proper ty serv ices industr y within 

Austra l ia. AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identi f ied on the basis of internal repor ts about 

the components of the Group that are regular ly rev iewed by the chief operat ing decis ion maker in order 

to a l locate resources to the segment and to assess i ts per formance. The board rev iews the Company 

as a whole in the business segment of onl ine proper ty serv ices within Austra l ia.

Accounting policy for operating segments

Operating segments are presented using the ‘management approach’, where the information presented 

is on the same basis as the internal repor ts provided to the Chief Operating Decis ion Makers (‘CODM’). 

The CODM is responsible for the a l location of resources to operating segments and assessing their 

per formance.

NOTE 5. REVENUE

Consolidated Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Products and services 2,102,105 1,084,599 
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Accounting policy for revenue recognit ion

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fa i r value of the considerat ion received or receivable to the 

extent i t is probable that the economic benef i ts wi l l f low to the Group and the revenue can be re l iably 

measured. The fol lowing speci f ic recognit ion cr i ter ia must a lso be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods

Sale of goods is recognised when the Group has transferred to the buyer the s igni f icant r isks and 

rewards of ownership, general ly when the customer has taken undisputed del ivery of the goods. 

Revenue f rom the sale of goods is recognised on del ivery to the customers.

Rendering of services

Revenue f rom the provis ion of serv ices to customers is recognised upon del ivery of the serv ices to the 

customers.

Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the ef fect ive interest method. This is a 

method of calculat ing the amor t ised cost of a f inancia l asset and al locating the interest income over 

the re levant per iod using the ef fect ive interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts est imated 

future cash receipts through the expected l i fe of the f inancia l asset to the net carr y ing amount of the 

f inancia l asset.

Sub-lease income

Sub-lease income f rom operating leases is recognised on a stra ight- l ine basis over the sub-lease term.

NOTE 6. OTHER INCOME

Consolidated Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Interest income 5,351 6,383 

Sub-lease income 91,372 18,553 

Debt forgiveness on related party loan -  67,457 

Other income 96,723 92,393 
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NOTE 7. INCOME TAX

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate

Loss before income tax expense (3,819,265) (4,639,801)

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 27.5% (2016: 30%) (1,050,298) (1,391,940)

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable 
income:

Adjustment for non-deductible expenses 417 604 

Share-based payments 235,445 312,050 

(814,436) (1,079,286)

Listing expenses -  721,551 

Deferred tax balances not recognised 814,436 364,957 

Income tax expense -  7,222 

Consolidated

2017 -  $ 2016 - $

Tax losses not recognised

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 8,397,483 5,417,643 

Potential tax benefit @ 27.5% 2,309,308 1,625,293 

The above potentia l tax benef i t for tax losses has not been recognised in the statement of f inancia l 

posi t ion. These tax losses can only be ut i l ised in the future i f the continui ty of ownership test is 

passed, or fa i l ing that, the same business test is passed.
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Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Temporary differences not recognised

Deferred tax assets not recognised comprises temporary differences attributable 
to:

Accruals 47,789 69,864 

Employee benefits 89,113 4,400 

Transaction costs in issued shares 343,731 189,811 

Legal costs in business acquisitions 30,939 17,438 

Intangible assets 1,591 6,078 

Total temporary differences not recognised 513,163 287,591 

The above potentia l tax benef i t, which excludes tax losses, for deductible temporary di f ferences has 

not been recognised in the statement of f inancia l posi t ion as the recovery of this benef i t is uncer ta in.

Accounting policy for income tax

The income tax expense or benef i t for the per iod is the tax payable on that per iod’s taxable income 

based on the appl icable income tax rate for each jur isdict ion, adjusted by the changes in deferred 

tax assets and l iabi l i t ies at tr ibutable to temporary di f ferences, unused tax losses and the adjustment 

recognised for pr ior per iods, where appl icable.

Deferred tax assets and l iabi l i t ies are recognised for temporary di f ferences at the tax rates expected 

to be appl ied when the assets are recovered or l iabi l i t ies are set t led, based on those tax rates that are 

enacted or substantive ly enacted, except for:

•	 When the deferred income tax asset or l iabi l i t y ar ises f rom the in i t ia l recognit ion of goodwi l l or 

an asset or l iabi l i t y in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the t ime of the 

transaction, af fects nei ther the accounting nor taxable prof i ts; or

•	 When the taxable temporary di f ference is associated with interests in subsidiar ies, associates or 

jo int ventures, and the t iming of the reversal can be control led and i t is probable that the temporary 

di f ference wi l l not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary di f ferences and unused tax losses only i f 

i t is probable that future taxable amounts wi l l be avai lable to ut i l ise those temporary di f ference 

and losses.

The carr y ing amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are rev iewed at each 

repor t ing date. Deferred tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that i t is no longer probable 

that future taxable prof i ts wi l l be avai lable for the carr y ing amount to be recovered. Previously 

unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that i t is probable that there are future 

taxable prof i ts avai lable to recover the asset.
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Deferred tax assets and l iabi l i t ies are of fset only where there is a legal ly enforceable r ight to of fset 

current tax assets against current tax l iabi l i t ies and deferred tax assets against deferred tax l iabi l i t ies; 

and they re late to the same taxable author i ty on e i ther the same taxable enti ty or di f ferent taxable 

enti t ies which intend to set t le s imultaneously.

NOTE 8. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Cash on hand 2,553,317 2,473,299 

Accounting policy for cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposi ts held at cal l wi th f inancia l inst i tut ions, other 

shor t-term, highly l iquid investments with or iginal matur i t ies of three months or less that are readi ly 

conver t ible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insigni f icant r isk of changes in 

value.

NOTE 9. CURRENT ASSETS - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Trade debtors -  40,333 

GST Receivables 37,313 38,223 

Other receivables 34,218 329 

71,531 78,885 

Al l amounts are shor t-term and non-interest bear ing. The net carr y ing value of trade receivables is 

considered a reasonable approximation of fa i r value.

Al l of the Group’s trade and other receivables have been rev iewed for indicators of impairment and 

a provis ion for impairment is recognised when there is objective ev idence that an indiv idual trade is 

impaired. No provis ions for impairment are required to be recognised for the year ended 30 June 2017 

(2016: Ni l ).

Accounting policy for trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are in i t ia l ly recognised at fa i r value and subsequently measured at amor t ised cost 

using the ef fect ive interest method, less any provis ion for impairment. Trade receivables are general ly 

due for set t lement within 30 days.

Col lectabi l i t y of trade receivables is rev iewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be 

uncol lectable are wr i t ten of f by reducing the carr y ing amount directly. A provis ion for impairment of 

trade receivables is ra ised when there is objective ev idence that the consol idated enti ty wi l l not be able 

to col lect a l l amounts due according to the or iginal terms of the receivables.
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Signi f icant f inancia l di f f icul t ies of the debtor, probabi l i t y that the debtor wi l l enter bankruptcy or 

f inancia l reorganisation and defaul t or del inquency in payments (more than 60 days overdue) are 

considered indicators that the trade receivable may be impaired. The amount of the impairment 

a l lowance is the di f ference between the asset’s carr y ing amount and the present value of est imated 

future cash f lows, discounted at the or iginal ef fect ive interest rate. Cash f lows re lat ing to shor t-term 

receivables are not discounted i f the ef fect of discounting is immater ia l.

NOTE 10. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Leasehold improvements - at cost 82,250 67,295 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (29,835) (549)

52,415 66,746 

Furniture, fixtures and fittings - at cost 26,338 23,901 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (3,034) (52)

23,304 23,849 

Computer equipment - at cost 29,807 10,320 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (7,401) (251)

22,406 10,069 

Office equipment - at cost 8,793 -  

Less: Accumulated depreciation (2,026) -  

6,767 -  

104,892 100,664 
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Reconcil iat ions

Reconci l iat ions of the wr i t ten down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous 

f inancia l year are set out below:

Consolidated Office
equipment - $

Computer
equipment - $

Furniture, 
fixtures &
fittings - $

Leasehold
improvements 
- $

Total - $

Balance at 1 July 2015 - 4,922 1,945 - 6,867 

Additions - 10,320 23,901 67,295 101,516 

Write off of assets - (3,112) (1,715) - (4,827)

Depreciation expense - (2,061) (282) (549) (2,892)

Balance at 30 June 2016 - 10,069 23,849 66,746 100,664 

Additions 8,793 17,694 2,438 14,955 43,880 

Depreciation expense (2,026) (5,357) (2,983) (29,286) (39,652)

Balance at 30 June 2017 6,767 22,406 23,304 52,415 104,892 

Accounting policy for property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at histor ical cost less accumulated depreciat ion and impairment. 

Histor ical cost includes expenditure that is di rectly at tr ibutable to the acquis i t ion of the i tems.

Depreciat ion is calculated on a stra ight- l ine basis to wr i te of f the net cost of each i tem of proper ty, 

plant and equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful l ives as fol lows: 

Computer equipment 1.5 -10 years

Furniture, fixtures and fittings 2-10 years

Leasehold improvements 3 years

The residual values, useful l ives and depreciat ion methods are rev iewed, and adjusted i f appropr iate, at 

each repor t ing date.

Leasehold improvements and plant and equipment under lease are depreciated over the unexpired 

per iod of the lease or the est imated useful l i fe of the assets, whichever is shor ter.

An i tem of proper ty, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future 

economic benef i t to the consol idated enti ty. Gains and losses between the carr y ing amount and the 

disposal proceeds are taken to prof i t or loss.
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NOTE 11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Website - at cost 174,100 92,809 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (73,007) (52,358)

101,093 40,451 

Software - at cost 69,707 3,900 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (10,448) (217)

59,259 3,683 

160,352 44,134 

Reconcil iat ions

Reconci l iat ions of the wr i t ten down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous 

f inancia l year are set out below:

Consolidated Software - $ Website - $ Total - $

Balance at 1 July 2015 - 14,436 14,436 

Additions 3,900 38,593 42,493 

Write off of assets - (4,707) (4,707)

Amortisation expense (217) (7,871) (8,088)

Balance at 30 June 2016 3,683 40,451 44,134 

Additions 64,126 81,291 145,417 

Amortisation expense (8,550) (20,649) (29,199)

Balance at 30 June 2017 59,259 101,093 160,352 

Accounting policy for intangible assets

Fini te l i fe intangible assets are subsequently measured at cost less amor t isat ion and any impairment. 

The gains or losses recognised in prof i t or loss ar is ing f rom the derecognit ion of intangible assets are 

measured as the di f ference between net disposal proceeds and the carr y ing amount of the intangible 

asset. The method and useful l ives of f in i te l i fe intangible assets are rev iewed annual ly. Changes in 

the expected pat tern of consumption or useful l i fe are accounted for prospective ly by changing the 

amor t isat ion method or per iod.

Website

Signi f icant costs associated with the development of the revenue generating aspects of the websi te, 

including the capaci ty of placing orders, are deferred and amor t ised on a 33% diminishing value basis 

over the per iod of their expected benef i t, being their f in i te l i fe of 1-3 years.
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Software

Signi f icant costs associated with sof tware are deferred and amor t ised on a 33% diminishing value 

basis over the per iod of their expected benef i t, being their f in i te l i fe of 1-3 years.

NOTE 12. CURRENT LIABILITIES - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Trade payables 362,852 103,270 

Accruals 103,861 157,762 

Payroll liability payables 207,900 186,723 

Related party payables 110,708 20,448 

785,321 468,203 

Refer to note 19 for fur ther information on f inancial instruments.

Accounting policy for trade and other payables

These amounts represent l iabi l i t ies for goods and serv ices provided to the consol idated enti ty pr ior to 

the end of the f inancia l year and which are unpaid. Due to their shor t-term nature they are measured at 

amor t ised cost and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usual ly paid within 30 days 

of recognit ion.

NOTE 13. CURRENT LIABILITIES - BORROWINGS

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Loan from related party -  28,347 

Refer to note 19 for fur ther information on f inancial instruments.\

Accounting policy for borrowings

Loans and borrowings are in i t ia l ly recognised at the fa i r value of the considerat ion received, net of 

transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amor t ised cost using the ef fect ive 

interest method.

Where there is an uncondit ional r ight to defer set t lement of the l iabi l i t y for at least 12 months af ter the 

repor t ing date, the loans or borrowings are classi f ied as non-current.
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NOTE 14. CURRENT LIABILITIES - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS PROVISION 

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Annual leave 76,704 14,664 

Long service leave 16,470 -  

93,174 14,664 

Accounting policy for employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Liabi l i t ies for wages and salar ies, including non-monetary benef i ts, annual leave and long serv ice leave 

expected to be set t led whol ly within 12 months of the repor t ing date are measured at the amounts 

expected to be paid when the l iabi l i t ies are set t led.

NOTE 15. EQUITY - ISSUED CAPITAL

Consolidated

2017
Shares

2016
Shares

2017
$

2016
$

Ordinary shares - fully paid 63,743,754 55,142,562 15,913,716 13,064,988 

Movements in ordinary share capital

Details Date Shares Issue price $

Balance 1 July 2015 24,890,871 7,827,354 

Shares issued
7 Sep 2015 and 29 
Feb 2016

22,589,580 $0.200 4,496,091 

Notional issue of shares to acquire buyMyplace 
(in accordance with the requirements of reverse 
acquisition accounting)

29 Feb 2016 7,662,111 $0.200 1,532,422 

Transaction costs in issuing shares - (790,879)

Balance 30 June 2016 55,142,562 13,064,988 

Shares issued 15 December 2016 8,451,192 $0.355 3,000,504 

Exercise of options 13 January 2017 150,000 $0.250 37,500 

Transfer from reserve for exercise of options - $0.000 20,228 

Transaction costs in issuing shares - (209,504)

Balance 30 June 2017 63,743,754 15,913,716 
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Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares have the r ight to receive div idends as declared and in the event of winding up the 

Company, to par t ic ipate in the proceeds f rom the sale of a l l surplus assets in propor t ion to the number 

of and amounts paid up on shares held. The voting r ights at tached to the ordinary shares at a general 

meeting of shareholders are such that on a show of hands every member present ( in person or by 

proxy) shal l have one vote and on a pol l one vote for each share held. Ordinary shares have no 

par value.

Share buy-back

There is no current on-market share buy-back.

Capital r isk management

The consol idated enti ty’s objectives when managing capita l is to safeguard i ts abi l i t y to continue as a 

going concern, so that i t can provide returns for shareholders and benef i ts for other stakeholders and 

to mainta in an optimum capita l structure to reduce the cost of capi ta l.

Capita l is regarded as tota l equi ty, as recognised in the statement of f inancia l posi t ion, plus net debt. 

Net debt is calculated as tota l borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

In order to mainta in or adjust the capita l structure, the consol idated enti ty may adjust the amount 

of div idends paid to shareholders, return capita l to shareholders, issue new shares or sel l assets to 

reduce debt.

The consol idated enti ty would look to ra ise capita l when an oppor tuni ty to invest in a business or 

company was seen as value adding re lat ive to the current company’s share pr ice at the t ime of the 

investment. The consol idated enti ty is not active ly pursuing addit ional investments in the shor t term as 

i t continues to integrate and grow i ts exist ing businesses in order to maximise synergies.

The capita l r isk management pol icy remains unchanged f rom the 30 June 2016 Annual Repor t.

Accounting policy for issued capital

Ordinary shares are classi f ied as equi ty.

Incremental costs directly at tr ibutable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equi ty as a 

deduction, net of tax, f rom the proceeds.

NOTE 16. EQUITY - DEFERRED CONSIDERATION SHARES

In the pr ior f inancia l year the Company issued 15,000,003 deferred considerat ion shares to the share-

holders of BuyMyHome Pty Ltd as a considerat ion pursuant to Share Sale Agreement for the acquis i t ion 

of BuyMyHome Pty Ltd. Each deferred considerat ion share conver ts into one ordinary share, subject to 

meeting speci f ic condit ions within speci f ied per iod.

The terms of the deferred considerat ion shares are as fol lows:

•	 5,000,001 to be conver ted to equivalent number of fu l ly paid ordinary shares upon the Group 

achiev ing 8,000 proper ty l ist ings in any f inancia l year between 29 February 2016 and 30 June 2019

•	 5,000,001 to be conver ted to equivalent number of fu l ly paid ordinary shares upon the Group 

achiev ing revenue of $10 mi l l ion or more in any f inancia l year between 29 February 2016 and 

30 June 2019
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•	 5,000,001 to be conver ted to equivalent number of fu l ly paid ordinary shares upon the Group 

achiev ing EBITDA of $3 mi l l ion or more in any f inancia l year between 29 February 2016 and 30 June 

2019

There is no movements in re lat ion to deferred considerat ion shares as at 30 June 2017.

NOTE 17. EQUITY - SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Share based payments reserve 2,202,907 1,432,761 

Movements in reserves

Movements in each class of reserve dur ing the current and previous f inancia l year are set out below:

Share based payments
Consolidated $

Balance at 1 July 2015 -

Share based payments 1,039,370 

Transaction costs in issuing shares 393,391 

Cancelled option expense 797 

Transfer of cancelled options to accumulated losses (797)

Balance at 30 June 2016 1,432,761 

Share based payments* 856,164 

Options expired or lapsed (65,790)

Exercise of options (20,228)

Balance at 30 June 2017 2,202,907 

* Share based payments for the period include amortisation of prior year performance rights and options which are expensed over the relevant vesting 
period. Included in this value are the Tranche 1 options granted to an employee in August 2016 and Tranche 1 options granted to an employee in May 
2017 and an employee in June 2017.

NOTE 18. EQUITY - DIVIDENDS

There were no div idends paid, recommended or declared dur ing the current or previous f inancia l year.



71

buyMyplace.com.au Limited Annual Report 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial r isk management objectives

The Group’s activ i t ies expose i t to a var iety of f inancia l r isk: market r isk, credi t r isk and l iquidi ty r isk. 

The Group’s overal l r isk management program focuses on active ly secur ing the Group’s shor t to 

medium-term cash f lows by minimis ing the exposure to f inancia l markets and seeks to assist the Group 

in meeting i ts f inancia l targets whi lst minimis ing potentia l adverse ef fects on the f inancia l per formance 

of the Group.

The Group’s pr incipal f inancia l instrument is cash at bank, which main purpose is to earn the maximum 

amount of interest at a low r isk to the Group. The Group also has other f inancia l instruments, such as 

trade debtors and credi tors, which ar ise directly f rom i ts operat ions. For the year under rev iew, i t has 

been the Group’s pol icy not to trade in f inancia l instruments. 

Risk management pol ic ies are approved and rev iewed by the Board of Directors on a regular basis. 

These include credi t r isk, cash management and future cash f low requirements. The Group uses 

di f ferent methods to measure di f ferent types of r isk to which i t is exposed. These methods include 

sensi t iv i t y analysis in the case of interest rate and other pr ice r isks, aging analysis for credi t r isk and 

beta analysis in respect of investment por t fo l ios to determine market r isk.

Market r isk

Foreign currency r isk

The consol idated enti ty is not exposed to any s igni f icant fore ign currency r isk.

Price r isk

The consol idated enti ty is not exposed to any s igni f icant pr ice r isk.

Interest rate r isk

The Group’s pol icy is to minimize interest rate cash f low r isk exposures on long-term f inancing. Longer-

term borrowings, i f any, are therefore usual ly at f ixed rates. At 30 June 2017, the Group is exposed 

to changes in market interest rates through shor t-term bank deposi ts at f loat ing interest rates. Other 

borrowings are at f ixed interest rates.

As at the repor t ing date, the consol idated enti ty had the fol lowing var iable rate borrowings and interest 

rate swap contracts outstanding:

2017 2016

Weighted 
average 
interest rate

Balance
Weighted 
average 
interest rate

Balance

Consolidated % $ % $

Cash and cash equivalents 0.29% 2,553,317 0.29% 2,472,299 

Cash and cash equivalents 1.50% - 1.70% 1,000 

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 2,553,317 2,473,299 
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The fol lowing table i l lustrates the sensi t iv i t y of prof i t and equity to a reasonably possible change in 

interest rates of +/- 1% (2015: +/- 1%). These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based 

on observation of current market condit ions. The calculat ions are based on a change in the average 

market interest rate for each per iod, and the f inancia l instruments held at each repor t ing date that are 

sensi t ive to changes in interest rates. Al l other var iables are held constant.

Basis points increase Basis points decrease

Consolidated - 2017
Basis points 
change

Effect on 
profit before 
tax

Effect on 
equity

Basis points 
change

Effect on 
profit before 
tax

Effect on 
equity

Cash at bank 50 12,766 12,766 50 (12,766) (12,766)

Basis points increase Basis points decrease

Consolidated - 2016
Basis points 
change

Effect on 
profit before 
tax

Effect on 
equity

Basis points 
change

Effect on 
profit before 
tax

Effect on 
equity

Cash at bank 50 12,366 12,366 50 (12,366) (12,366)

The Group’s trade and other receivables are carr ied at amor t ised cost. They are therefore not subject 

to interest rate r isk as def ined in AASB 7, s ince nei ther the carr y ing amount nor the future cash f lows 

wi l l f luctuate because of a change in market interest rates.

Credit r isk

Credit r isk is the r isk that a counterpar ty fa i ls to discharge an obl igat ion to the Group. The Group is 

exposed to this r isk for var ious f inancia l instruments, for example by granting receivables to customers 

and placing deposi ts. The Group’s maximum exposure to credi t r isk is l imited to the carr y ing amount of 

f inancia l assets recognized at the repor t ing date, summarised below:

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Cash and cash equivalents 2,553,317 2,473,299 

Trade and other receivables 71,530 78,885 

2,624,847 2,552,184 

The Group continuously monitors defaul ts of customers and other counterpar t ies, identi f ied e i ther 

indiv idual ly or by group and incorporates this information into i ts credi t r isk controls. Where avai lable 

at reasonable cost, ex ternal credi t rat ings and/or repor ts on customers and other counterpar t ies are 

obtained and used. The Group’s pol icy is to deal only with credi twor thy counterpar t ies.

The Group’s management considers that a l l of the above f inancia l assets that are not impaired or past 

due for each of the 30 June repor t ing dates under rev iew are of good credi t qual i t y.
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At 30 June, the Group has cer ta in trade and other receivables that have not been set t led by the 

contractual due date but are not considered to be impaired. The amounts at 30 June analysed by the 

length of t ime past due, are:

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Not more than three (3) months -  40,662 

In respect of trade and other receivables, the Group is not exposed to any s igni f icant credi t r isk 

exposure to any s ingle counterpar ty or any group of counterpar t ies having s imi lar character ist ics. 

Outstanding trade receivables at 30 June 2017 represent of f ice sub-lease transactions with a re lated 

par ty of the Group and are considered to be low exposure to credi t r isk.

The credi t r isk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negl ig ible, s ince the counterpar t ies are 

reputable banks with high qual i t y ex ternal credi t rat ings.

Liquidity r isk

Liquidi ty r isk is the r isk that the Group might be unable to meet i ts obl igat ions. The Group manages i ts 

l iquidi ty needs by monitor ing forecast cash inf lows and out f lows due in day-to-day business. The data 

used for analysing these cash f lows is consistent with that used in the contractual matur i ty analysis 

below. L iquidi ty needs are monitored in var ious t ime bands, on a week-to-week basis as wel l as on the 

basis of a rol l ing 30-day projection. Long-term l iquidi ty needs for a 180-day and a 360-day lookout 

per iod are identi f ied quar ter ly. Net cash requirements are compared to avai lable borrowing faci l i t ies in 

order to determine headroom or any shor t fa l ls. This analysis shows that avai lable borrowing faci l i t ies 

are expected to be suf f ic ient over the lookout per iod.

The Group’s objective is to mainta in cash and marketable secur i t ies to meet i ts l iquidi ty requirements 

for 30- day per iods at a minimum. This objective was met for the repor t ing per iods. Funding for long-

term l iquidi ty needs is addit ional ly secured by an adequate amount of commit ted credi t faci l i t ies.

The Group considers expected cash f lows f rom f inancia l assets in assessing and managing l iquidi ty 

r isk, in par t icular i ts cash resources and trade receivables

Remaining contractual maturit ies

The fol lowing tables detai l the consol idated enti ty’s remaining contractual matur i ty for i ts f inancia l 

instrument l iabi l i t ies. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash f lows of f inancia l 

l iabi l i t ies based on the ear l iest date on which the f inancia l l iabi l i t ies are required to be paid. The 

tables include both interest and pr incipal cash f lows disclosed as remaining contractual matur i t ies and 

therefore these tota ls may di f fer f rom their carr y ing amount in the statement of f inancia l posi t ion.
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Weighted 
average 
interest rate

1 year or less Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years Over 5 years

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities

Consolidated - 2017 % $ $ $ $ $

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade payables - 785,321 - - - 785,321 

Total non-derivatives 785,321 - - - 785,321 

Weighted 
average 
interest rate

1 year or less Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years Over 5 years

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities

Consolidated - 2016 % $ $ $ $ $

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade payables - 468,203 - - - 468,203 

Interest-bearing - 
fixed rate

Borrowings 12.00% 28,347 - - - 28,347 

Total non-derivatives 496,550 - - - 496,550 

The cash f lows in the matur i ty analysis above are not expected to occur s igni f icantly ear l ier than 

contractual ly disclosed above.

Fair value of f inancial instruments

Unless otherwise stated, the carr y ing amounts of f inancia l instruments ref lect their fa i r va lue.

NOTE 20. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Accounting pol icy for fa i r value measurement

When an asset or l iabi l i t y, f inancia l or non-f inancia l, is measured at fa i r va lue for recognit ion or 

disclosure purposes, the fa i r value is based on the pr ice that would be received to sel l an asset or paid 

to transfer a l iabi l i t y in an order ly transaction between market par t ic ipants at the measurement date; 

and assumes that the transaction wi l l take place e i ther: in the pr incipal market; or in the absence of a 

pr incipal market, in the most advantageous market.

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market par t ic ipants would use when pr ic ing the 

asset or l iabi l i t y, assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-f inancia l assets, the fa i r 

value measurement is based on i ts highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropr iate 

in the ci rcumstances and for which suf f ic ient data are avai lable to measure fa i r value, are used, 

maximis ing the use of re levant observable inputs and minimis ing the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTE 21. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

Directors

The fol lowing persons were directors of buyMyplace.com.au L imited dur ing the f inancia l year:

 

Matthew Driscoll Non-Executive Chairman

Cameron Fisher Executive Director

Paul Spottiswood Non-Executive Director

Peter Butterss Non-Executive Director

Robert Kipp (resigned 30 May 2017) Non-Executive Director

Other key management personnel

The fol lowing person also had the author i ty and responsibi l i t y for planning, di recting and control l ing 

the major activ i t ies of the consol idated enti ty, di rectly or indirectly, dur ing the f inancia l year:

Paul Heath Chief Executive Officer

Compensation

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of 

the consol idated enti ty is set out below:

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Short-term employee benefits 883,537 264,781 

Post-employment benefits 32,617 7,369 

Share-based payments 532,445 890,282 

1,448,599 1,162,432 
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NOTE 22. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

Dur ing the f inancia l year the fol lowing fees were paid or payable for serv ices provided by Grant Thorn-

ton, the auditor of the company, and i ts network f i rms:

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Audit services - Grant Thornton

Audit or review of the financial statements 47,000 53,000 

Other services - Grant Thornton

Other compliance and advisory services 17,500 -  

Independent Accountants' Report -  10,000 

17,500 10,000 

64,500 63,000 

Other audit services

Audit of the historical financial statements of BuyMyHome Pty Ltd -  27,000 

NOTE 23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2017, there were no contingent l iabi l i t ies other than the deferred considerat ion shares 

disclosed in Note 16 which are carr ied forward f rom 2016. 
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NOTE 24. COMMITMENTS

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Lease commitments - operating lease as a lessee

The Group leases an office building under an operating lease. The rental contract has 
a non-cancellable term of three(3) years with 3 further options to lease for another 
three(3) years each. The future minimum lease payments are as follows:

Within one year 114,433 111,100 

One to five years 77,799 192,232 

192,232 303,332 

Operating lease as a lessor

The Group sub-leases the office building that it currently leases to a related party as 
disclosed in Note 27. The sub-lease agreement has the same terms and conditions as 
per the lease agreement. 

Within one year 76,289 74,067 

One to five years 51,866 128,155 

128,155 202,222 

The Group has no outstanding capita l commitments as at 30 June 2017 (2016: Ni l )

NOTE 25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parent entity

buyMyplace.com.au L imited is the parent enti ty.

Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiar ies are set out in note 27.

Key management personnel

Disclosures re lat ing to key management personnel are set out in note 21 and the remuneration repor t 

included in the directors’ repor t.

Transactions with related par t ies

Promoter services

Dur ing the pr ior year, the Group ra ised $4,011,091 f rom new investors and paid promoter’s fees of 

$494,233 in tota l to re lated par t ies. Detai ls are summarised as fol lows:

•	 $393,391 was paid v ia issuance of 1,875,000 share options and 1,875,000 per formance r ights to a 

company associated with P. Spot t iswood.

•	 $50,350 was paid v ia both cash and an issuance of 208,333 shares to a company of which M. 

Dr iscol l is a di rector.
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•	 $50,492 was paid v ia both cash and an issuance of 208,334 shares to a company of which R. K ipp is 

a director.

These fees were recorded as transaction costs for issued share capita l and treated as a reduction to 

contr ibuted equity.

Recruitment services

Dur ing the pr ior year, a company of which Peter But terss is a director and a benef ic ia l owner provided 

recrui tment serv ices to the Group and received a serv ice fee of $45,000.

Consult ing services

Dur ing the pr ior year, companies associated with M. Dr iscol l, C. Fisher and R. Kipp separate ly provided 

consul t ing serv ices to the Group and indiv idual ly received consul t ing fees of $25,000, $42,925 and 

$30,000 respective ly.

In addit ion, pr ior to the acquis i t ion date of 29 February 2016, a company of which R. Kipp is a director 

and benef ic ia l owner provided consul t ing serv ices to the Company and received a consul t ing fee of 

$20,000 in the pr ior year.

Dur ing the f inancia l year ended 30 June 2017, Changing Places, a company associated with C. Fisher 

provided consul t ing serv ices to the Group and received $90,000. 

Dur ing the f inancia l year ended 30 June 2017, A L Heath who is associated with P Heath provided 

consul t ing serv ices to the Group and received $9,955. 

Administrat ion and real estate services

Dur ing the pr ior year, a company of which C. Fisher is a director and benef ic ia l owners provided 

administrat ion and real estate agent serv ices to the Group and received serv ice fees of $72,456.

Salaries and Wages

M. Fisher, a fami ly member of C. Fisher, is employed by BuyMyHome Pty Ltd f rom 1 March 2013. Her 

remuneration dur ing the current and previous f inancia l years were as fol lows:

Salar ies including bonuses $52,156 (30 June 2016: $41,182), Superannuation expenses $4,909 (30 June 

2016: $3,746) and Annual Leave $4,090 (30 June 2016: $10).

Management services

Dur ing the pr ior year, a company of which P. Heath is a director provided management serv ices to the 

Group and received $130,000.

Sub-let of operating lease

Dur ing the current and pr ior year, proper ty under operating lease has been sub-let to a company of 

which C. Fisher is a director and benef ic ia l owner. Deal ings are in commercia l terms and condit ions. 

Total sub-lease income for the year was $91,372 (2016: $18,553).
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Receivable from and payable to related par t ies

There were no trade receivables f rom or trade payables to re lated par t ies at the current and previous 

repor t ing date.

Loans to/from related par t ies

The fol lowing balances are outstanding at the repor t ing date in re lat ion to loans with re lated par t ies:

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Current borrowings:

Loan from related party -  28,347 

In the pr ior f inancia l year, a company to which M. Dr iscol l is a director and benef ic ia l owner has 

provided an unsecured loan to the Company tota l l ing $459,860 with an interest rate of 12% per annum 

and a defaul t interest rate of 5% per annum payable monthly. Any unpaid interest at the end of the 

month was added to the unpaid pr incipal balance on which interest was to be calculated. The loan was 

due for repayment on 29 February 2016.

Dur ing the pr ior f inancia l year unti l the acquis i t ion date of 29 February 2016, a loan of $459,860 

including capita l ised interest charged of $48,622 had been advanced by the Director. Movements in 

carr y ing amount of the Director’s loan f rom the acquis i t ion date unti l 30 June 2016: 

Terms and condit ions

Al l transactions were made on normal commercia l terms and condit ions and at market rates.

NOTE 26. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION

Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent enti ty.

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Parent

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Loss after income tax (2,315,780) (5,840,804)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income (2,315,780) (5,840,804)
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Statement of f inancial posit ion

Parent

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Total current assets 2,430,999 2,327,906 

Total assets 2,547,474 2,458,834 

Total current liabilities 360,370 333,097 

Total liabilities 360,370 359,986 

Equity

Issued capital 17,031,557 14,471,497 

Share based payments reserve 4,136,082 3,387,761 

Accumulated losses (18,980,535) (15,760,410)

Total equity 2,187,104 2,098,848 

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relat ion to the debts of its subsidiaries

The parent enti ty had no guarantees in re lat ion to the debts of i ts subsidiar ies as at 30 June 2017 and 

30 June 2016.

Contingent l iabil i t ies

The parent enti ty had no contingent l iabi l i t ies as at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016.

Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment

The parent enti ty had no capita l commitments for proper ty, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2017 

and 30 June 2016.

Signif icant accounting policies

The accounting pol ic ies of the parent enti ty are consistent with those of the consol idated enti ty.

NOTE 27. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The consol idated f inancia l statements incorporate the assets, l iabi l i t ies and resul ts of the fol lowing 

subsidiar ies in accordance with the accounting pol icy descr ibed in note 2:

 

Ownership interest

Name Principal place of business /
Country of incorporation

2017
%

2016
%

BuyMyHome Pty Ltd Online real estate services/ Australia 100.00% 100.00% 

BuyMyHome (Agency) Pty Ltd Real estate services/Australia 100.00% 100.00% 
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NOTE 28. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 20 July 2017, the Company announced that i t had s igned a condit ional agreement to acquire 100% 

of MyPlace Conveyancing Pty Ltd.

On 28 July 2017, the Company issued 583,775 ful ly paid ordinary shares (‘Complet ion shares’) at 

a deemed issue pr ice of $0.1713 (17.13 cents) per share, subject to a 12 month voluntary escrow, 

pursuant to the Share Sale Deed entered into by the Company to acquire a l l of the issued capita l in 

MyPlace Conveyancing Pty Ltd f rom the Vendors.

In addit ion to this and as par t of the purchase pr ice, the Company also made a cash payment of 

$150,000 to the Vendors.

The Vendors are a lso enti t led to an earn out of up to $150,000 wor th of fu l ly paid ordinary BMP shares 

(Earn Out Shares) to be issued at the VWAP over the 30 day per iod preceding the issue of the shares. 

The issue of the Earn Out Shares in subject to cer ta in Per formance Hurdles being satisf ied.

On 1 August 2017, the Company announced that the acquis i t ion of a l l issued shares in MyPlace 

Conveyancing Pty Ltd had been completed.

The acquis i t ion accounting has not been completed as at the date of this repor t, however the Company 

has acquired plant and equipment, receivables, goodwi l l , and payables.

On 8 August 2017, the Company issued a tota l of 1,950,000 unl isted options and 1,950,000 

per formance r ights to employees of the Company. The options and per formance r ights were issued 

with var ious vesting dates and per formance hurdles.

No other mat ter or c i rcumstance has ar isen s ince 30 June 2017 that has s igni f icantly af fected, or 

may s igni f icantly af fect the consol idated enti ty’s operat ions, the resul ts of those operations, or the 

consol idated enti ty’s state of af fa i rs in future f inancia l years.
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NOTE 29. RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH USED 
IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Loss after income tax expense for the year (3,819,265) (4,647,023)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 68,851 10,980 

Write off of property, plant and equipment -  9,534 

Share-based payments 856,164 1,040,167 

Finance costs on related party loan -  5,805 

Listing expenses -  2,405,176 

Debt forgiveness on related party loan -  (67,457)

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 7,356 (11,580)

Decrease in deferred tax assets -  7,222 

Increase in prepayments (12,549) (43,196)

Increase in other non-financial assets -  (38,759)

Increase in trade and other payables 310,545 51,527 

Increase in other provisions 78,509 40,667 

Increase in other non-financial liabilities -  26,889 

Net cash used in operating activities (2,510,389) (1,210,048)

NOTE 30. NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Debt forgiveness on related party loan -  67,457 

Settlement of transaction costs for issued share capital with equity-based payments -  518,391 

Repayment of loan from related party via issuance of shares -  120,000 

Settlement of existing debt to related parties via issuance of shares -  240,000 

Issue of share options to directors, executives and employees under incentive option 
scheme

398,609 866,444 

Issue of performance rights to directors, executives and employees under performance 
rights plan

457,555 172,926 

856,164 1,985,218 
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 NOTE 31. EARNINGS PER SHARE

 

Consolidated

2017 - $ 2016 - $

Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of buyMyplace.com.au Limited (3,819,265) (4,647,023)

Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings 
per share

59,760,280 35,109,601 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings 
per share

59,760,280 35,109,601 

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share (6.39) (13.24)

Diluted earnings per share (6.39) (13.24)

Options and per formance r ights granted to directors, employees and cornerstone investors are 

considered to be potentia l ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of di luted 

earnings per share to the extent they are di lut ive. Accordingly, these options and per formance r ights 

have not been included in the determination of basic earnings per share.

There have been no transactions involv ing ordinary shares or potentia l ordinary shares that would 

s igni f icantly change the number of ordinary shares or potentia l ordinary shares outstanding between 

the repor t ing date and the date of complet ion of these prel iminary f inancia l statements.

Accounting policy for earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by div iding the prof i t at tr ibutable to the owners of buyMyplace.

com.au L imited, excluding any costs of serv ic ing equi ty other than ordinary shares, by the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding dur ing the f inancia l year, adjusted for bonus elements 

in ordinary shares issued dur ing the f inancia l year.

Diluted earnings per share

Di luted earnings per share adjusts the f igures used in the determination of basic earnings per share 

to take into account the af ter income tax ef fect of interest and other f inancing costs associated with 

di lut ive potentia l ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been 

issued for no considerat ion in re lat ion to di lut ive potentia l ordinary shares.
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NOTE 32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group has put in place a long-term incentive option scheme that enti t les directors, employees 

and other e l ig ible par t ic ipants to purchase shares in the Company. The scheme is designed to at tract, 

incentiv ise and reta in executives and employees, as wel l as to a l ign par t ic ipants’ interests with those 

of shareholders by increasing the value of the Company’s shares. The incentive option scheme wi l l be 

set t led in equi ty. The exercise pr ice of the options under the scheme is set on the date of grant. 

In accordance with the Company’s second supplementary prospectus dated 19 February 2016, a tota l 

of 12,750,000 unl isted options were issued to the directors and employees of the Group on 29 February 

2016. Subsequently, addit ional 1,875,000 unl isted options were issued to cornerstone investors on 4 

March 2016. 

These options have a 5-year term and wi l l vest i f cer ta in condit ions are met. I t is based ei ther on the 

volume weighted average share pr ice within a speci f ied per iod or continuous employment unti l the 

end of the agreed vesting per iod (appl icable only for the options issued to directors and employees). 

A l l share options carr y no voting r ights and do not enti t le the holder to div idends. Upon vesting, each 

option al lows the holder to purchase one ordinary share determined at grant date.

Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan:

2017

Grant date Expiry date Exercise 
price

Balance at 
the start of 
the year

Granted Exercised  
 Forfeited

Balance at 
the end of 
the year

29/02/2016 28/02/2021 $0.250 4,250,000 - (150,000) - 4,100,000 

29/02/2016 28/02/2021 $0.300 4,250,000 - - (150,000) 4,100,000 

29/02/2016 28/02/2021 $0.350 4,250,000 - - (150,000) 4,100,000 

04/03/2016 28/02/2021 $0.250 625,000 - - - 625,000 

04/03/2016 28/02/2021 $0.300 625,000 - - - 625,000 

04/03/2016 28/02/2021 $0.350 625,000 - - - 625,000 

09/08/2016 09/08/2021 $0.250 - 300,000 - - 300,000 

09/08/2016 09/08/2021 $0.300 - 300,000 - (300,000) -  

09/08/2016 09/08/2021 $0.350 - 300,000 - (300,000) -  

26/05/2017 26/05/2022 $0.450 - 300,000 - - 300,000 

26/05/2017 26/05/2022 $0.500 - 300,000 - - 300,000 

26/05/2017 26/05/2022 $0.550 - 300,000 - - 300,000 

13/06/2017 13/06/2022 $0.450 - 350,000 - - 350,000 

13/06/2017 13/06/2022 $0.500 - 350,000 - - 350,000 

13/06/2017 13/06/2022 $0.550 - 350,000 - - 350,000 

14,625,000 2,850,000 (150,000) (900,000) 16,425,000 

Weighted average exercise price $0.300 $0.433 $0.250 $0.325 $0.388 
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2016

Grant date Expiry date Exercise 
price

Balance at 
the start of 
the year

Granted Exercised  
 Forfeited

Balance at 
the end of 
the year

29/02/2016 28/02/2021 $0.250 - 4,250,000 - - 4,250,000 

29/02/2016 28/02/2021 $0.300 - 4,250,000 - - 4,250,000 

29/02/2016 28/02/2021 $0.350 - 4,250,000 - - 4,250,000 

04/03/2016 28/02/2021 $0.250 - 625,000 - - 625,000 

04/03/2016 28/02/2021 $0.300 - 625,000 - - 625,000 

04/03/2016 28/02/2021 $0.350 - 625,000 - - 625,000 

- 14,625,000 - - 14,625,000 

Weighted average exercise price $0.000 $0.300 $0.000 $0.000 $0.300 

The weighted average remaining contractual l i fe of options outstanding at the end of the f inancia l year 

was 5 years (2016: 5 years).

Set out below are summaries of per formance rights granted under the plan:

2017

Grant date Expiry date Exercise 
price

Balance at 
the start of 
the year

Granted Exercised  Forfeited
Balance at 
the end of 
the year

29/02/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 4,250,000 - - (775,000) 3,475,000 

29/02/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 4,250,000 - - (775,000) 3,475,000 

29/02/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 4,250,000 - - (775,000) 3,475,000 

04/03/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 625,000 - - - 625,000 

04/03/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 625,000 - - - 625,000 

04/03/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 625,000 - - - 625,000 

09/08/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 300,000 - (300,000) -  

09/08/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 300,000 - (300,000) -  

09/08/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 300,000 - (300,000) -  

26/05/2017 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 300,000 - - 300,000 

26/05/2017 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 300,000 - - 300,000 

26/05/2017 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 300,000 - - 300,000 

13/06/2017 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 350,000 - - 350,000 

13/06/2017 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 350,000 - - 350,000 

13/06/2017 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 350,000 - - 350,000 

14,625,000 2,850,000 - (3,225,000) 14,250,000 
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2016

Grant date Expiry date Exercise 
price

Balance at 
the start of 
the year

Granted Exercised  Forfeited
Balance at 
the end of 
the year

29/02/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 4,250,000 - - 4,250,000 

29/02/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 4,250,000 - - 4,250,000 

29/02/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 4,250,000 - - 4,250,000 

04/03/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 625,000 - - 625,000 

04/03/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 625,000 - - 625,000 

04/03/2016 30/06/2019 $0.000 - 625,000 - - 625,000 

- 14,625,000 - - 14,625,000 

The weighted average remaining contractual l i fe of per formance r ights outstanding at the end of the 

f inancia l year was 5 years (2016: 5 years).

For the options granted dur ing the current f inancia l year, the valuation binomial model inputs used to 

determine the fa i r value at the grant date, are as fol lows:

Grant date Expiry date
Share price
at grant 
date

Exercise
price

Expected
volatility

Dividend
yield

Risk-free
interest rate

Fair value
at grant 
date

26/05/2017 26/05/2022 $0.180 $0.450 99.00% - 1.96% $0.109 

26/05/2017 26/05/2022 $0.180 $0.500 99.00% - 1.96% $0.106 

26/05/2017 26/05/2022 $0.180 $0.550 99.00% - 1.96% $0.104 

13/06/2017 13/06/2022 $0.195 $0.450 99.00% - 1.97% $0.121 

13/06/2017 13/06/2022 $0.195 $0.500 99.00% - 1.97% $0.118 

13/06/2017 13/06/2022 $0.195 $0.550 99.00% - 1.97% $0.115 

For the per formance r ights granted dur ing the current f inancia l year, the valuation model inputs used to 

determine the fa i r value at the grant date, are as fol lows:

Grant date Expiry date
Share price
at grant 
date

Fair value
at grant 
date

26/05/2017 30/06/2019 $0.180 $0.180 

26/05/2017 30/06/2019 $0.180 $0.180 

26/05/2017 30/06/2019 $0.180 $0.180 

13/06/2017 30/06/2019 $0.195 $0.195 

13/06/2017 30/06/2019 $0.195 $0.195 

13/06/2017 30/06/2019 $0.195 $0.195 
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Consolidated 2017 - $

Share based payments expense reconciliation

Issue of share options to directors, executives and employees under incentive option scheme 398,609 

Issue of performance rights to directors, executives and employees under performance rights plan 457,555 

Total share based payments expense reconciliation 856,164 

Accounting policy for share based payments

The Group measures the cost of equi ty-set t led transactions by reference to the fa i r value of the equi ty 

instruments at the date at which they are granted af ter tak ing into account the terms and condit ions 

upon which the instruments were granted. The fa i r value is determined by using a binomial option 

pr ic ing model, based on a number of cr i t ica l under ly ing assumptions such as r isk f ree rate, volat i l i t y, 

forecast div idends, probabi l i t y of achiev ing the vesting condit ions and the t iming of when they are 

expected to be achieved.

The Group operates equi ty-set t led share-based remuneration plans for i ts di rectors and employees. 

None of the Group’s plans feature any options for a cash set t lement.

Al l goods and serv ices received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured 

at their fa i r values. Where employees are rewarded using share-based payments, the fa i r values of 

employees’ serv ices are determined indirectly by reference to the fa i r value of the equi ty instruments 

granted. This fa i r value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of non-market vesting 

condit ions ( for example prof i tabi l i t y and sales growth targets and per formance condit ions).

A l l share-based remuneration is ul t imately recognised as an expense in prof i t or loss with a 

corresponding credi t to share-based payments reserve. I f vest ing per iods or other vesting condit ions 

apply, the expense is a l located over the vesting per iod, based on the best avai lable est imate of the 

number of equi ty instruments expected to vest.

Non-market vesting condit ions are included in assumptions about the number of equi ty instruments 

that are expected to become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently rev ised i f there is any indication 

that the number of equi ty instruments expected to vest di f fers f rom previous est imates. Any cumulat ive 

adjustment pr ior to vesting is recognised in the current per iod. No adjustment is made to any expense 

recognised in pr ior per iods i f equi ty instrument ul t imately exercised are di f ferent to that est imated 

on vesting.

Upon exercise of equi ty instruments, the proceeds received net of any directly at tr ibutable transaction 

costs are a l located to share capita l.
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In the directors’ opinion:

the at tached f inancia l statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting 

Standards, the Corporations Regulat ions 2001 and other mandatory professional repor t ing 

requirements;

•	 the at tached f inancia l statements and notes comply with International F inancia l Repor t ing Standards 

as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as descr ibed in note 2 to the f inancia l 

statements;

•	 the at tached f inancia l statements and notes give a true and fa i r v iew of the consol idated enti ty’s 

f inancia l posi t ion as at 30 June 2017 and of i ts per formance for the f inancia l year ended on that date; 

and

•	 there are reasonable grounds to bel ieve that the company wi l l be able to pay i ts debts as and when 

they become due and payable.

The directors have been given the declarat ions required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolut ion of di rectors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the 

Corporations Act 2001.

On behal f of the directors

Matthew Driscoll 
Chairman 
31 August 2017

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
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is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and 
are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its 
Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF BUYMYPLACE.COM.AU LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial report

Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of buyMyplace.com.au Limited (the Company) and its 
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
30 June 2017, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:

a Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have 
also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
We draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a 
net loss of $3,819,265 during the year ended 30 June 2017. As stated in Note 2, these events or 
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate that a material uncertainty 
exists that may cast doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is 
not modified in respect of this matter.
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Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, 
we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated 
in our report.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Share based payments
Note 34
During the current and prior year, the Company 
issued share options and performance rights to 
employees, directors and investors. The Company 
engaged a valuation specialist to provide a valuation 
of these share-based payments. 

This area is a key audit matter due to the inherent 
subjectivity involved in management’s and the 
valuation expert’s judgements relating to the key 
inputs and assumptions used to value the options 
and rights including historical volatility and the risk 
free rate of return, and estimates of likely vesting 
periods.

Our procedures included, amongst others:

• agreeing the issue of instruments to relevant ASX 
announcements and  option/right agreements;

• evaluating the qualifications and expertise of 
management’s valuation expert in order to assess 
their professional competence and capabilities as 
they relate to the work undertaken; 

• considering the assumptions applied by
management’s expert for reasonableness and 
historical accuracy; 

• understanding key judgements and assumptions 
made by the Company in accounting for the 
options and rights for reasonableness and
consulting with auditors expert where necessary;

• agreeing key inputs to the relevant terms within the 
instrument agreements;

• testing the mathematical accuracy of the valuation 
provided by the specialist using the binomial 
pricing model; 

• testing share based payment expenses were 
recorded in the correct period in line with vesting 
conditions; and

• assessing the adequacy of the Company’s 
disclosures in respect to share-based payments.

 
Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2017, but does not 
include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives 
a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001 and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO 
THE MEMBERS OF BUYMYPLACE.COM.AU 
LIMITED

 
 

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or 
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report.

Report on the Remuneration Report

Opinion on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 
30 June 2017.

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of buyMyplace.com.au Limited, for the year ended 30
June 2017, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

B A Mackenzie
Partner - Audit & Assurance

Melbourne, 31 August 2017
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Distribution of equitable securit ies

Analysis of number of equi table secur i ty holders by s ize of holding:

Number 
of holders 
of ordinary 
shares

1 to 1,000 152 

1,001 to 5,000 198 

5,001 to 10,000 116 

10,001 to 100,000 295 

100,001 and over 126 

887 

Holding less than a marketable parcel 219 

The shareholder information set out above was appl icable as at 16 August 2017.
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Equity security holders

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders

The names of the twenty largest secur i ty holders of quoted equity secur i t ies are l isted below:

Ordinary shares 
Number held

% of total shares 
issued

Changing Places Real Estate Consultants Pty Ltd 7,183,024 11.17 

KM Custodians Pty Ltd 6,919,513 10.76 

Butterss Consulting Pty Ltd (P&R Butterss Family A/C) 2,392,651 3.72 

M&M Driscoll Nominees Pty Ltd (The Driscoll Family A/C) 2,177,020 3.38 

Mr Peter J Hartshorne 1,282,052 1.99 

Karlusic Investments Pty Ltd (Karlusic Family A/C) 1,239,435 1.93 

Enterprize Pty Ltd (Enterprize A/C) 1,202,980 1.87 

Jenmir Pty Ltd (The Mikrut Family A/C) 1,000,730 1.56 

Metronome Design Pty Ltd (Paul Becca Family A/C) 961,883 1.50 

Hot Clothing Company Pty Ltd (C D Wilks Super Fund A/C) 915,871 1.42 

Mr Laurence Holyoake 728,404 1.13 

TWG Investments Pty Ltd (TWG Super Fund A/C) 727,504 1.13 

Mr Peter Ronec (Ronec Family A/C) 638,130 0.99 

Garsind Pty Ltd (Ruth Ross Super Fund A/C) 600,000 0.93 

Sweeney 138 Enterprises Pty Ltd (Sweeney Family A/C) 598,585 0.93 

Fionica Pty Ltd (Davdev Family A/C) 574,213 0.89 

Akuma Holdings Pty Ltd (Pluto A/C) 500,000 0.78 

Ward McKenzie Pty Ltd 484,366 0.75 

Morrmac Pty Ltd (Mimie MacLaren Pension A/C) 482,603 0.75 

Mr Hayden Kelly (Kelly Family A/C) 464,964 0.72 

31,073,928 48.30 

The shareholder information set out above was appl icable as at 16 August 2017.
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Unquoted equity securit ies

Number on issue Number of 
holders

Options over ordinary shares issued 16,425,000 12 

Performance rights over ordinary shares issued 14,250,000 11 

Substantial holders

Substantia l holders in the company are set out below:

Ordinary shares 
Number held

% of total shares 
issued

Changing Places Real Estate Consultants Pty Ltd 7,183,024 11.17 

KM Custodians Pty Ltd 6,919,513 10.76 

Voting r ights

The voting r ights at tached to ordinary shares are set out below:

Ordinary shares

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shal l have one vote and 

upon a pol l each share shal l have one vote.

There are no other c lasses of equi ty secur i t ies.
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Securit ies subject to escrow

Class Expiry date Number of shares

Fully paid ordinary shares 27 February 2018 10,886,550 

Fully paid ordinary shares 27 July 2018 583,775 

11,470,325 

Consistency with business objectives - ASX List ing Rule 4.10.19

In accordance with L ist ing Rule 4.10.19, the Group states that i t has used the cash and assets in a form 

readi ly conver t ible to cash that i t had at the t ime of admission in a way consistent with i ts business 

objectives. The business objective is pr imar i ly re lated to fur ther expansion in strategic par tnerships 

as wel l as enhanced product of fer ings. The Consol idated Enti ty bel ieves i t has used i ts cash in a 

consistent manner to which was disclosed under the Second Supplementary Prospectus dated 19 

February 2016, the Fi rst Supplementary Prospectus dated 20 January 2016, and the Prospectus dated 

21 December 2015. 
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